Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive Education in Manitoba?

Karen Fraser

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

In partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

Department of Educational Administration, Foundations & Psychology

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg, MB

Copyright © 2018 by Karen Fraser

Abstract

The department of education in the province of Manitoba has recently changed the way in which schools are funded to assist in meeting the needs of students who live with special needs. The change was the result of a task force that examined different funding models and made recommendations to the Minister of Education in November 2015. The change was deemed necessary because the application based system was detrimental to the inclusive education movement that the province has been promoting for several years. Labelling students and viewing them through a deficit model goes against inclusion and the Task Force felt this practice must change. Six student services administrators from across the province were interviewed to glean insight as to how some school divisions in Manitoba were reacting to the change in special needs funding and if there is potential to improve inclusive education in the province.

Comparing the findings of this study to the literature about inclusive education it was determined that a change in funding by itself will not improve inclusive education in the province, but rather school divisions might consider using this change in funding as an opportunity to examine their own practices and begin the work of creating more inclusive schools for all.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Table of Contents	3
Acknowledgments	6
Chapter 1: Special Needs Funding in Manitoba	
Purpose	9
Task Force on Special Needs Funding	12
Rationale/Significance of the Study	13
Delimitations	15
Limitations	15
Organization of the Thesis	16
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Funding Models: Categorical Based Funding vs Formula Based Funding	18
A Brief History of Inclusive Education	21
Funding of Manitoba Schools	25
Categorical Based Funding vs Formula Based Funding	26
The risks associated with categorical based funding.	26
The risks associated with formula based funding.	34
Inclusive Education: What the Research Tells Us	39
Leadership for Inclusive Educational Reform	41
Chapter 3: Research Methods	45
Research Participants	45

	Data Collection	48
	Data Analysis	49
	Data Interpretation	51
Chapte	er 4: Results	52
	Inclusive Education: A Continuation of the Journey	52
	Changing Roles and Responsibilities	54
	The educational assistant.	54
	The clinician.	56
	The teacher.	58
	The principal.	60
	The student services administrator.	61
	Preparation for the Change: Conversations with Stakeholders	62
	Parents.	63
	Principals.	64
	Organizing and Distributing Supports: The Use of Data Sources	66
	Class and school profiles.	68
	A Return to Segregated Practices?	69
	Other Considerations	71
Chapte	er 5: Moving Forward with Formula Based Funding	73
	Discussion	73
	Formula Based Funding: A Welcome Change	73
	Preparation for change.	76
	Conversations with stakeholders.	76

School boards	76
Parents	77
Principals	79
Organizing and distributing supports: the use of data sources	80
Class and school profiles.	80
Changing roles.	82
The educational assistant.	83
The clinician.	86
The principal	89
The resource teacher.	92
The classroom teacher.	94
The student services administrator.	98
Will there be an impact on inclusive education?	100
Louis Riel School Division: Formula funding initiative.	102
Conclusion and Recommendations	105
References	111
Appendix A	119
Appendix B	121
Appendix C	124
Appendix D	126
Appendix E	129
Appendix F	133

Acknowledgments

I would like to start by saying a huge thank you to my advisor, John VanWalleghem, for his support, encouragement, guidance and expertise throughout this process. His passion for inclusive education is amazing and he is an inspiration to me. I would also like to thank my committee members, Zana Lutfiyya and Edie Wilde for their valuable feedback and encouragement throughout this process.

Thank you to the six student services administrators who took the time to participate in this study. I am so grateful to all of you for sharing your wisdom with me.

Thank you to Tara, Shelley, Sandy and the rest of my Woodlawn family. All of your encouragement over the past couple of years has been much appreciated.

Finally, thank you to my family, Derek, Jesse, and Josh. Derek, I could not have done this without your love and support. Thank you.

Chapter 1: Special Needs Funding in Manitoba

On January 7, 2016, the Minister of Education and Advanced Learning announced the province of Manitoba would eliminate the categorical based system that has been used to determine funding for students identified as living with special needs. The categorical based system would be replaced with a formula based model (Manitoba Education and Training, 2016b). The change was the result of the work of a Task Force created to examine special needs education, particularly the funding process for students identified as living with special needs. The recommendation of the Task Force was to eliminate the deficit-oriented funding application model that had been in place since 1980, including all the years since inclusion became the philosophical aspiration in Manitoba schools, and replace it with a formula based model to determine how schools are funded to meet the needs of all diverse learners (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). A stated purpose of the funding change is to encourage more inclusive programming while minimizing the negative effects of the former categorical based funding model.

In this thesis, I examine the recommendation to change funding from the current categorical based model to a formula based model as proposed by the Task Force on Special Needs Funding (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015) (hereafter referred to as The Task Force). The Task Force outlined four risks associated with categorical based funding and four risks associated with formula based funding. These risks are examined and compared to the literature to provide an understanding of how formula based funding might improve inclusive education in the province of Manitoba.

8

In this thesis, I discuss two funding models: Categorical based funding and formula based funding. Up until the 2017-2018 school year, school divisions were provided some of their special needs funding under the categorical based funding model. This model is based on a medical model and required that students be diagnosed and labelled in order that they receive extra funding from the government to assist with their learning in public school. The medical model of disability according to Degener (2016) views disability as, "an impairment that needs to be treated, cured, fixed, or at least rehabilitated (p. 2). This model focuses on what is wrong with the person. The medical model does not promote inclusion because the impairment is viewed as a justification for exclusion (Degener, 2016). In Manitoba, this way of thinking was perpetuated through the funding application process. In order to determine which students required extra funding dollars, school divisions submitted individual applications to demonstrate need. Manitoba Education used rubrics to determine whether the applications met the funding criteria and then informed school divisions of the results (Manitoba Education and Training, 2016c). Subsequently, school divisions decided how the money was spent and allocated. This funding model is also referred to as student specific, low incidence, application based, and input funding. To provide clarity, I will refer to this funding model throughout this paper as categorical based funding.

The second funding model referenced in this paper is formula based funding. Formula based funding is provided using a formula designed to determine needs, always based in part on enrolment data and often, as is the case in Manitoba, with the additional consideration of socioeconomic data and historical funding patterns. There are no individual student applications but rather, in the case of Manitoba, the department provides divisions with a lump sum of money to meet the educational needs of students living with special needs. Again, school divisions decide

how the money is spent and allocated (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017a). Baker and Ramsey (2010) describe this funding model as a, "lump sum allocation based on an assumption that a uniform share of each districts' enrollment will require special education programs" (p. 246). This funding model is also referred to as throughput, census, and block funding. To provide clarity, I will refer to this funding model throughout this paper as formula based funding.

In this qualitative study I sought to answer the question, "What are the anticipated changes that will result from the new formula based funding model?" Six student services administrators from school divisions in Manitoba were interviewed for the purpose of this study. Guided by work of Bogdan and Biklen (2007), I asked the same open-ended questions of all six participants. The structured interview method allowed for comparable data from all of the participants. I transcribed and analysed the data, looking for themes, and then interpreted the results.

Purpose

The purpose of this qualitative study is to hear the perspectives of various educators about the change in special needs funding. I review current research in the field of inclusive education and educational reform and compare that research to the roll out of the new formula based funding model that has become policy in Manitoba. The Task Force determined which funding models would promote inclusive practices in schools and made recommendations to the Minister of Education. Their recommendation was to eliminate the categorical based funding model and replace it with a formula based funding model (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). The Minister accepted those recommendations. In this study, I wanted to learn how some school

divisions were planning to implement formula based funding in their schools and if there would be any significant changes to inclusive education that result from those changes.

Manitoba Education previously attempted a limited removal of student specific funding with little success. VanWalleghem and Lutfiyya (2013) described a 2001 Manitoba Education 3-year pilot that included six school divisions throughout the province. The pilot eliminated the requirement that those school divisions submit funding applications for students previously funded under the category *Emotionally and Behaviourally Disturbed II* (EBD II). Instead, the pilot school divisions received funds based on population and historical funding patterns and had control over how to allocate funds and plan for students in ways they felt appropriate. However, according to the authors some divisions were fearful that they were losing funds and had a better chance at increased funding through the funding application process. VanWalleghem and Lutfiyya (2013) reported that, according to the terms of the pilot project, all of the divisions involved in the pilot project returned to the categorical based funding system and have continued to use that funding model.

Seven Oaks School Division (SOSD) made a second attempt at moving away from the categorical based funding model from 2010-2013. SOSD hired Proactive Information Services Inc. to document and analyze data that examined the implementation of formula based funding in the division. Proactive surveyed parents and staff and invited them to participate in focused conversations to examine how formula based funding was impacting inclusive education across the division. The findings (Proactive Information Services Inc., 2013a) indicate that school administrators and professional support staff (resource teachers, guidance counselors)

¹ Seven Oaks School Division shared the reports completed for them by Proactive Information Services at my request. Permission was granted to reference the information from these reports in this thesis

demonstrated great support for the change in funding as they believed that it: provided a more holistic approach to meeting students' needs; allowed for a strength-based approach; and eliminated the need to negatively label students. Teachers and educational assistants did not seem to share the same understanding of the purpose of the move to formula based funding and as a result did not see the benefits to students in the same way. Parents believed that the learning needs of their children were being met more effectively than they had been under the categorical based funding system. It is important to note that, at the same time SOSD attempted formula based funding they also intentionally changed the way inclusion was practiced in their schools. "While the funding approach, in itself, does not create these benefits, it provides a foundation for a paradigm shift" (Proactive Information Services Inc., 2013a, p. 24). This is an important consideration for schools across the province as they now shift to formula funding. It suggests that if they seek to improve inclusive education for all students, school divisions should consider how their policies and pedagogy should also evolve.

In addition to the Proactive Information Services Inc. (2013a; 2013b) reports prepared for Seven Oaks School Division, Olson (2013), writing in *The Manitoba Teacher*, a publication of the Manitoba Teachers' Society of which he was president, reported on the formula based funding project in Seven Oaks School Division. Olson claimed that the implementation of formula based funding was not very successful based on reports from members of the SOSD Teachers' Association. He reported that the pilot project was criticized by teachers as well as families who felt that the students were not having their needs met due to a lack of services and by teachers who were overwhelmed and being expected to provide services that were beyond their capabilities. Olson (2013) wrote, "It was commendable in theory. More time with kids and less time on paperwork. More teacher time and less reliance on EAs" (p. 6). He added that, "Not

every idea can be a winner," and he thanked the membership of the SOSD Teachers' Association for raising the red flag (Olson, 2013, p. 6).

There is a distinct discrepancy between the findings reported in the Proactive Information Services Inc. (2013a; 2013b) reports and the interviews with the SOSD Teachers' Association as reported by Olson (2013) in regards to the formula based funding initiative conducted by SOSD. The findings in The Proactive Information Services reports support many of the recommendations found in current literature around inclusive education, including having more professionals work with students who live with special needs, having educational assistants assigned to classrooms and not individual children, and increased collaboration amongst school staff to support all diverse students (Hehir et al., 2016; Katz, 2012; Giangreco, Doyle, & Suter, 2012; Brownlie & King, 2000). Olson (2013) reported that SOSD teachers felt that they were being asked to do too much. One can only speculate about the reasons for this discrepancy and without a study that examines both sides of the issue in a systemic and coherent manner, any possible explanations remain speculation.

Task Force on Special Needs Funding

Manitoba Education established a Task Force on Special Needs Funding made up of representatives of different stakeholder groups in Manitoba's education system including superintendents, student services administrators, parents, teachers, and school boards (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). The Task Force reported that Manitoba has promoted inclusive education and has developed inclusive policies that have resulted in improved practice in the way inclusion is done in schools. However, the Task Force also claimed that the categorical based

funding model did not promote inclusion and should change so that inclusive education practices may continue to improve (Manitoba Education, 2015).

The Task Force did recommend that the province change from the existing categorical based funding model to a formula based model. It also clearly recommended that any successful change "would have to be carefully and methodically implemented" (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015, p. 11). The Task Force included recommendations that would be necessary for the successful implementation of the new formula based funding model. "The Task Force is very clear that the implementation of any change must be well planned, comprehensive, and involve all of the organizations represented on the Task Force Committee as well as other stakeholders" (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015, p. 11).

Rationale/Significance of the Study

The Task Force indicated that a major funding model change would likely cause systemic effects to policies, pedagogy and student learning (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). In this study, I want to collect the perspectives of six student services administrators in order to get a sense as to how their divisions were reacting to the change in funding. These findings will be compared to the research literature on inclusive education. In the analysis section of this thesis I discuss the implications for improving educational practices at the school and divisional levels.

An announcement by the Minister of Education on January 2016 outlined a three-step process for the formula based funding model roll out to divisions across the province (Manitoba Education and Training, 2016b). Louis Riel School Division would pilot this initiative with some of its schools starting in the 2016-2017 school year. For the 2017-2018 school year other divisions would have the option of implementing the new funding model. The Minister reported

that full implementation of the new formula based funding model would be in place by the 2018-2019 school year.

There was a change to the timeline when the newly elected government announced there would not be an option for school divisions in 2017-2018. Rather the formula based funding model would be implemented for all school divisions. The government did not announce a new formula. It did indicate that school divisions will receive the same amount of funding that they received for the 2016-2017 school year (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017b).

Thus, this study occurred at an important juncture in Manitoba's progress on inclusive education. I used qualitative research methods involving interviews of student services administrators from divisions across the province. Student services administrators are responsible for everything that falls under the student services umbrella, including funding and providing appropriate resources to schools. Through the interviews, I explored the perspectives of student service administrators in regards to the implementation of the new formula based funding model. I hope that some insight can be gleaned as to how divisions might prepare for this change in funding. Furthermore, I hope that these interviews will allow for a glimpse as to what, if any, changes will occur in terms of inclusive education while eliminating categorical based funding and the deficit based application process. Therefore, the research question(s) are:

What are the anticipated changes that will result from the new formula based funding model?

a. How do school division leaders, specifically student services administrators, prepare for and support these changes?

- b. How will different roles such as the role of the principal, the resource teacher, and the classroom teacher be affected by the change according to the student services administrators?
- c. How are these changes anticipated to have an impact on inclusive education at the school level according to the student services administrators?

The findings from this study provide valuable insights to the field through a comprehensive look at the research in both inclusive education and educational policy and reform. Subsequently, the study results might inform the implementation of the new formula based funding model to improve education for all of Manitoba's diverse learners.

Delimitations

The sample size of student services administrators who participated in this research study was quite small. Six student services administrators, three representing urban divisions (within Winnipeg) and three representing rural divisions participated in this study. It is important that the results of this study are interpreted with caution as the six divisions represented do not necessarily represent other divisions across Manitoba. Superintendents of Manitoba school divisions were asked to forward the invitations to student services administrators to participate in the study. The six participants in this study or their school divisions may have a greater interest in the topic of the new funding process and inclusive education in general than those who did not volunteer to be a participant which may result in limited data. However, while the sample of student services administrators was small, I was able to gain insight into the perspectives of individuals who will be responsible for implementing this funding change at the practical level.

Limitations

Data for this study were collected through semi-structured, in-depth interviews. The interview as described by Bogdan and Biklen (2007) is similar to "a purposeful conversation" (p. 103). The questions were open-ended. Asking open-ended questions provides the participant with the opportunity to go into certain topics at greater length, unhampered by the assumptions that the researcher brings to the study. Typically, this provides the researcher with more data to work with during the analysis stage. However, much of this depends on the participants and how much they are willing and able to share at the time of the interview (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007).

All Manitoba school divisions were invited to participate in this study with the exception of three. The Division Scolaire Franco-Manitobaine (DSFM) and Frontier School Division (FSD) were not invited because their funding formulas are quite different from the other school divisions and their perspective would be substantially different as there are other factors that would have to be considered. The Task Force mentioned this in their report to the Minister, "because of the unique relationships with the Federal government and the associated funding received, accommodations may need to be considered for Frontier School Division and DSFM." (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015 p. 10). Louis Riel School Division (LRSD) was also not included among invitees as they had been participating in the pilot (Manitoba Education, 2016b). Independent or private schools were also excluded from this study as they are not affected by the changed funding model. This method of sampling is described by Bogdan and Biklen (2007) as purposeful sampling in which, "you choose particular subjects to include because they are believed to facilitate the expansion of the developing theory (p.73).

Organization of the Thesis

I organized this thesis into five chapters. Chapter One was the introduction to the thesis. This section included a brief history of funding for students living with special needs in the province of Manitoba. I introduced and examined the recommendations from the provincial Task Force that recommended formula based funding to the Minister (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). I clarified the purpose of the study, the rationale and significance of this research and its potential impact on inclusive education in the province of Manitoba.

Chapter Two is a review of the literature. I examine categorical based funding and formula based funding. I provide a historical review of funding in Manitoba and introduce a brief overview of inclusive policy from a global and local perspective. I review inclusive practices and research supporting inclusive education and compare them to the recommendations made by the Task Force. Finally I examine literature about the roles of resource teachers, principals, clinicians, and educational assistants in inclusive settings.

In Chapter Three I discuss the methods used in this research. I include a brief explanation of the participants, the data collection and the data analysis. In Chapter Four I present the results of the data collection and analyses. Chapter Five includes the discussion and recommendation section of this qualitative study. In this chapter I will discuss the anticipated changes based on my findings, how schools might prepare for the change, how supports could be organized and distributed differently, and how roles of school staff might be affected by the change.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative study is to examine the change in special needs funding in Manitoba through the perspectives of the six student services administrators who participated in this study. The department of education recently announced that all school divisions in the province will be funded through a formula based funding model. The change was the result of recommendations proposed by The Task Force on Special Needs Funding (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015).

To begin this literature review I will review the research on the two funding models referenced throughout this paper — categorical based funding and formula based funding. Then, I will include a brief history of inclusive education at the global, national, and provincial levels. I will include a brief overview of how Manitoba schools are funded. The Task Force outlined four risks associated with categorical based funding. I will examine and compare these four risks to current research to determine if formula funding has the potential to alleviate these risks. The Task Force also included four possible risks associated with formula based funding. I will examine and compare these four risks to the literature. To conclude the literature review, the literature on successful school reform and its leadership will be examined.

Funding Models: Categorical Based Funding vs Formula Based Funding

In developed countries there are two funding models that are used most often to fund the education of students living with special needs in inclusive oriented schools. One of these models is the categorical based funding model that Manitoba was using prior to the 2017-2018 school year. According to Fletcher-Campbell, Pijl, Meijer, Dyson, and Parrish (2003), this model, also known as the input funding model, is based on student needs. Funding is allocated to

schools and divisions based on the number of children identified as living with special needs. The categorical based funding model has been widely used in many countries. The authors examined the use of the categorical based funding model in The United States and The Netherlands and made the argument that the number of students requiring extra supports increased dramatically because of its use.

The main argument for the use of a categorical based funding model for students living with special needs is that the students are identified and the funding is attached to individual students. Thus there is increased likelihood that identified students will have their educational needs met (Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003). Baker and Ramsey (2010) argue that identifying students allows for more support and opportunities for children who need particular programs and services.

There are two main arguments against the use of categorical based funding. The first is that it is based on labelling which has the potential to stigmatize students receiving the support (Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003). Because individual students are required to be identified as having special needs the authors claim this label can lead to stigmatization. Another problem that may arise from the use of categorical based funding is that it has the potential to lead to over-identification of students living with special needs (Baker & Ramsey, 2010). This may lead to students being unnecessarily placed in segregated special education classes or schools (Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003). Fletcher-Campbell et. al (2003) note, "There is growing evidence that some schools are more successful at presenting their case for a pupil receiving funding than others" (p. 227).

Another commonly used funding model as described by Fletcher-Campbell et al. (2003) is the throughput model. This is very similar to what The Task Force referred to as formula based funding. In this model, funding is not attached to a particular child, but on services within a school. The funds, Fletcher-Campbell et al. (2003) explain, are based on the total enrollment in an area. This model has also been described by other researchers as the census model and it has become a growing trend in several American States (Baker & Ramsey, 2010; Parrish, 2000). This model is similar to the block funding model that VanWalleghem and Lutfiyya (2013) describe. Sometimes referred to as "level one funding", the correct definition of this block of funding received by school divisions is *The Student Services Grant* and it is distributed by the province under the base support category (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017a).

From an inclusive perspective the formula based funding model seems to be the least restrictive model. The work of The Task Force supports this view (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). According to Parrish (2000), formula based funding has many benefits and reduces the likelihood that students living with special needs will be labelled in ways that will stigmatize them.

There are several cautions mentioned in the literature that are important to understand when talking about formula based funding. Parrish (2000) warns the distribution of funds may not be equitable. If we think of this in terms of Manitoba we know different areas have different levels of need. Another important consideration with formula based funding is schools may not be as accountable as they were under a categorical based model. The Task Force also warned of this in its report (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). It will be essential for schools and divisions to put checks and balances in place so students do not slip through the cracks.

The Task Force clearly laid out both the pros and cons of formula funding. By providing a context of funding of schools in Manitoba as well as a historical outline of inclusive education in Manitoba it is clear that the change in funding for students living with special needs from a categorical based model to a formula based model could be considered a positive move towards a more inclusive educational system in the province. Manitoba Education has provided a clear expectation to school divisions that they are to implement inclusive practices and they have backed up that expectation with resources and supports to help divisions create inclusive cultures in their schools. Through interviews with student services administrators from across the province, I hoped to glean some insight as to how different divisions are planning for this change in funding. I also hoped to get a glimpse as to how divisions have and will continue to work at creating inclusive schools for all.

A Brief History of Inclusive Education

In 1994 in Salamanca, Spain, at the *World Conference on Special Needs Education:*Access and Quality the Salamanca Statement and the Framework for Action on special needs education was born. It called for action by all countries to ensure that inclusive education occurs for all learners (UNESCO, 1994). The framework states that "[schools] should accommodate all children regardless of their physical, intellectual, social, emotional, linguistic, or other conditions" (UNESCO, 1994, p. 6). The Salamanca Statement included many recommendations that were intended to improve education for those students identified as living with special needs around the world. Many countries and jurisdictions have worked towards creating more inclusive schools, including Canada and the province of Manitoba.

In their report on *Inclusive Education in Canada: The Way of the Future*, the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada and The Canadian Commission for UNESCO (2008) described reforms and policies established by each of the ten Canadian provinces and the three Canadian territories that have written inclusive education into policy. In this report the authors discuss particular groups of Canadians who are at risk for exclusion including students with physical, emotional, mental, and learning challenges. The authors of this report go on to describe several initiatives that each of the Canadian provinces and territories have implemented to help ensure inclusive education for all of the at-risk groups. The Council of Ministers of Education, Canada and The Canadian Commission for UNESCO (2008) concluded that:

The flow of the report from the broad framework of legislation and policy that protect and define the equal rights of individuals and access to public education, through the wide ranging educational reforms, to the specific programs developed for the most vulnerable groups, to the description of the activities in schools and classrooms has stressed the comprehensiveness of the belief in and services to provide inclusive education in the educational jurisdictions in Canada. The approaches are not add-ons or occasional efforts but integral to the design delivery of education at all levels. (p. 65)

In 2005, the Manitoba Government passed into law an amendment to the *Public Schools Act* subtitled *Appropriate Educational Programming Amendment* to the *Public Schools Act*. This amendment set out to ensure that all Manitoba students, including those identified as living with special needs, have a right to an appropriate education. The amendment and regulation formed the basis for rules that school divisions are obligated to follow so that all students are educated in as appropriate an environment as possible.

Those rules were clarified when Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth published Appropriate Educational Programming in Manitoba: Standards for Student Services (2006) and Appropriate Educational Programming in Manitoba: A Handbook for Student Services (2007). These documents outlined in detail how divisions and schools should plan and implement appropriate educational programming for all students. The definition of inclusion at the beginning of the document is the same definition on Manitoba Education's website today:

Inclusion is a way of thinking and acting that allows every individual to feel accepted, valued and safe. An inclusive community consciously evolves to meet the changing needs of its members. Through recognition and support, an inclusive community provides meaningful involvement and equal access to the benefits of citizenship. In Manitoba, we embrace inclusion as a means of enhancing the well-being of every member of the community. By working together, we strengthen our capacity to provide the foundation for a richer future for all of us. (Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth, 2007, p. 1)

Over the last decade, The Student Services Branch of Manitoba Education has provided much support to school divisions in the area of inclusive education. Their website provides information and documents that assist in planning and programming for diverse students including those living with special needs. There are documents for parents and educators that are related to transitions, individualized education plans (IEPs), promoting positive behaviour, and strategies for working with students who live with autism or FASD (Manitoba Education and Training, 2016a).

It is important to differentiate between the rules outlined in the *Appropriate Educational Programming Amendment* to the *Public Schools Act* and the Department's philosophy of inclusion. The rules outlined in the amendment are the minimum expectations of accessibility to

schools and curriculum that divisions must provide to students living with special needs. These are the laws that govern Manitoba Schools. The philosophy of inclusion and the supporting documents are so much more than a minimum. They are based on research of best practice and are what schools in Manitoba should (according to Manitoba Education) strive to work towards to improve the lives of all diverse students. This research study examines the change of special needs funding through the lens of inclusion.

Funding of Manitoba Schools

Public schools in Manitoba are directly funded by both the provincial government and the local school division. According to Manitoba Education and Training (2017a), the provincial government is responsible for approximately sixty percent of the cost and the other forty percent is paid for by taxes collected at the local level. School divisions are allowed to set their own mill (taxation) rates to determine the amount of money they collect from taxpayers. Any annual increase in school taxes is usually a small increase as school taxes are a highly political issue. School divisions in Manitoba are governed by school boards who are comprised of elected school trustees. Raising school taxes seems to be a thoughtful process that needs to be justified to the local taxpayers who are also the ones called upon to vote in school board elections every four years. The amount that school divisions receive from the province comes in the form of Base Support, Categorical Support, and Equalization Payments (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017a). The Base Support that school divisions receive from the province is based on the previous year's enrollment on September 30.

Funding for students living with special needs in Manitoba falls under the Categorical Support section; specifically the section entitled Special Needs. School divisions also receive support under the Base Support section by way of a Student Services Grant which is also

intended to be used for the education of diverse student populations who require additional learning supports (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017a).

Up until the 2017-2018 school year, the province used the categorical based funding model to distribute funding for students living with special needs. School divisions submitted funding applications up to three times per school year, following provincial guidelines (Manitoba Education and Training, 2016c). If a student met the criteria for level two funding the school division received \$9220 per year and if a student met the criteria for level three funding the school division received \$20,515 per year (Manitoba Education and Training, 2016c).

Manitoba Education and Training (2016c) provides examples of how school divisions could use the money once a funding application had been approved and the dollars distributed to the school division. The examples listed include: EA time; clinician time; resource teacher time; counsellor time; or to purchase assistive technology. The directive from the department was that the money was to be used to assist in the education of a student identified as living with special needs and the way in which the money was spent must benefit the student for whom the money was applied for. The department never mandated that funding dollars received by school divisions be put towards employment of educational assistants. It seems that when school divisions submitted funding applications on behalf of students living with special needs, they did so with the intent to hire an educational assistant with the funding dollars. This practice will be examined in greater detail later in this chapter.

The 2017-2018 school year was the first year all school divisions receive a lump sum of money to assist with the education of students previously funded level two or level three. "School divisions will be provided with the same level two or level three funding amount that was provided in 2016-2017. No funding applications are required for the 2017-2018 school year"

(Manitoba Education and Training, 2017a, p. 10). The provincial document goes on to explain that funding applications will still be required for students who require additional supports under the category emotionally and behaviourally disturbed level three (EBD 3) and level A URIS (medical support). This was a recommendation made by the Task Force in its report to the Minister (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). Prior to the 2017-2018 school year, school divisions received level two and level three dollars for students using the categorical based funding model.

Categorical Based Funding vs Formula Based Funding

The Task Force proposed that Manitoba should change its current categorical based funding model to a formula based funding model partly so school divisions in the province can move towards more inclusive practices. The Task Force outlined four risks associated with both categorical based funding and formula based funding. Each of these risks will be discussed and compared to the literature.

The risks associated with categorical based funding.

The first risk identified by The Task Force (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015) was that the use of funding applications promotes the labelling of students as it relies on diagnostic information. The funding application itself requires diagnoses or assessments by clinicians or medical professionals.

The argument is not whether a strength based funding model is better than a deficit based funding model. Educators can see the value in determining a child's strengths and using those strengths to help them learn. In 2011, The Saskatchewan Ministry of Education [SME] (2011) published the document Actualizing a Needs-Based Model to Support Student Achievement. The

document states, "While we recognize that universal classroom practices will meet the needs of most students, some students will require short-term targeted supports in order to be successful" (SME, 2011, p. 1). The document discusses the change from the medical model of support to a needs-based service delivery model. The important difference between the two is that the needs-based model ensures that "students receive appropriate services, not just the services for which they qualify" (SME, 2011, p. 3).

According to Thomson (2012), educators need to be conscious that students are not being excluded based on labels, but labels have a place in education and many times they do help us understand students and how best to teach them. For example, when a student is diagnosed with a particular learning disability it is much easier to find interventions that may work for that student when educators know what they are working with. According to Lauchlan and Boyle (2007), a label can help a student and their family gain access to services and support that they would not have access to if they did not have a label. An example of this is a student living with autism who has a diagnosis from a medical doctor and is able to access a variety of summer programs and camps that he/she would not be able to attend without a diagnosis. According to van Swet et al. (2011), labels may actually help the child and his/her family start to find and work on strategies that will help the child. According to Tomlinson (2012), "In the public and often political mind special educational needs are associated with what appear to be recognizable conditions - physical, sensory or multiple disabilities on which there can be some agreement, especially if they fall within what appears to be a medical sphere of competence" (p. 273).

It is always imperative educators keep in mind there can be some devastating implications for a child who is labelled. According to Lauchlan and Boyle (2007), "[the] potential negative impacts are huge: stigmatization; bullying; reduced opportunities in life; a

focus on within-child deficits to the exclusion of other, often more significant factors; misclassification; and lowered expectations about what a "labeled" child can achieve" (p. 41).

The second risk identified by The Task Force (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015) is gathering data and writing funding applications uses a lot of time and resources. In other words, resource teachers and clinicians spend a lot of time assessing and writing funding applications and this takes time away from helping the child with interventions that would promote learning and independence.

The Saskatchewan Ministry of Education (2011) identifies important differences between the medical model that is implicit in the categorical based funding model and the needs based model. The Saskatchewan Ministry of Education (2011) discusses how the roles of professionals will change under the new system, for instance from one in which each professional works alone as an expert in their field to a more collaborative approach in which professionals come together, "to a reflective and holistic approach that is responsive to students' needs" (p. 5). While the use of a formula based model for special needs does not equate to a needs based approach, it seems to fit better with this model than it did with the categorical based funding model.

Considering the role of resource teachers specifically, it is likely that, as we move to more inclusive educational practices, the role of the resource teacher will also have to change. As the formula based funding model is implemented in Manitoba, resource teachers will not be required to write funding applications. AuCoin and Porter (2013) discuss the change from integration to inclusion. In settings that were (or maybe still are) more integrated the resource teacher likely spent most of his/her time working with individual students or with small groups. This was likely done in a "pull-out" format in which students are taken away from their

homeroom classes and peers to an isolated setting to work on academics or skills (Katz, 2013). As we evolve in the practice of inclusion, it is important that the roles of professionals in our schools continue to evolve as well. According to both AuCoin and Porter (2013), as well as Katz (2013), the new role of resource teachers in inclusive settings must include a shift from working with students to working with teachers. This shift allows the resource teacher to share his/her experience and knowledge with classroom teachers to assist them in teaching all of the diverse learners in their classrooms. Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning's (2014) support document describes the universal roles and responsibilities of resource teachers which include: support to teachers; student support; management; leadership; and other duties. The document recommends that the bulk of the work should be supporting classroom teachers. In inclusive schools this support might be a resource teacher and a classroom teacher co-planning and co-teaching universally designed lessons. It might also be coaching or consulting with a teacher to plan for the needs of all students in a classroom including those who live with special needs.

One question is how can we expect classroom teachers to meet the needs of all of the diverse learners in their classroom? Excluding students from their classrooms (pull-out) or the social learning in their classrooms (working in the back of the room with an adult such as a resource teacher or an educational assistant) has proven to have a negative impact on students' self-esteem and sense of belonging (Giangreco, 2010). So what can schools do to meet the needs of all learners within the classroom? Katz (2013) talks about collaborative practice which includes activities such as coaching, co-teaching, and consulting as ways resource teachers can share their knowledge and expertise with classroom teachers to work with diverse needs. Equally important is classroom teachers who are experts on curriculum and pedagogy will share their knowledge with the resource teachers (Katz, 2013). In other words, the relationship between

classroom teachers and resource teachers in inclusive schools is one in which knowledge and expertise are shared through a collaborative process that is respectful and always focussed on meeting the needs of all diverse learners in a classroom. AuCoin and Porter (2013) agree that schools can be truly inclusive only when classroom teachers are supported by resource teachers through co-teaching, co-planning, consulting, and coaching. "When school cultures are truly inclusive, school administrators will understand and expect the role of the resource teacher to be predominately collaborative, they will insist that resource teachers prioritize coaching and working with classroom teachers" (AuCoin & Porter, 2013, p. 27). Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning's (2014) support document clearly states, "When the primary role of the resource teacher in an inclusive school environment focuses on supporting and working with classroom teachers, all students benefit" (p. 51).

Under the new formula based funding model proposed by The Task Force the role of the school clinician may also change. In a research study that looked at in-class collaboration between teachers and speech-language pathologists (SLPs), Pena and Quinn (2003) found when SLPs and classroom teachers work together collaboratively in classrooms, the results are positive for student learning. Ritzman, Sanger, and Coufal (2006) claim the classroom is a great place for students with language or speech disorders to learn from their peers. In a case study of an SLP who worked collaboratively in classrooms alongside classroom teachers, the authors found this in-class model reduced the amount of pull-out programming for students with language or speech disorders. The authors do go on to caution that their findings do not determine if in-class or pull-out services were more effective, just that in-class services are an option in inclusive programming. Further, in the recent past, clinicians provided diagnoses that enabled the school

division to apply for funding. This often took up a lot of the clinician's time. With the new funding model, clinicians may be able to actually work with students and their teachers.

The third risk identified by The Task Force is that "[the] process does not encourage a change in how divisions use the funding" (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015, p. 18). In Manitoba, most often when a student is granted funding, an educational assistant is hired to help (Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth, 2001). It is important to note Manitoba Education never mandated the hiring of educational assistants to work with students who had received either level two or level three funding. However, it seems that is exactly what happened in school divisions across the province. In March of 2009, the Canadian Teachers' Federation reported the ratio of educational assistants to teachers in Manitoba schools was one EA for every two teachers. At that time, it was projected that if the trend continued, the ratio between educational assistants and teachers in Manitoba would be one to one (Canadian Teachers' Federation, 2009). It seems the funding application process itself perpetuated the practice of hiring educational assistants when funding applications were approved by the province.

There is a lot of research that talks about the misuse of educational assistants in our schools. That is not the fault of educational assistants but, rather, the fault of the system. Like the new role of the resource teacher, the role of the EA could become one in which their main task is to assist teachers in meeting the needs of all of the learners in a classroom.

According to Brown, Farrington, Knight, Ross, and Ziegler (1999), as integration started to become the norm in North American schools, educational assistants (often referred to in the American context as paraprofessionals and teacher assistants in the British context) moved from the segregated system to the integrated system in public schools. The students the educational

assistants were hired to work with, according to Brown et al. (1999), "could not learn very much so those hired to be with them did not need to know very much" (p. 250). More and more educational assistants are hired to work in schools today to support students living with special needs. In inclusion oriented schools, Giangreco, Broer, and Suter (2011) found schools are often over-using educational assistants and thus limiting the amount of instruction time a student living with special needs actually receives from a qualified classroom teacher, and, furthermore, most often educational assistants have had very little training and are often asked to do things beyond their capabilities.

One Canadian study looked at the perspectives of students in regards to educational assistants. Tews and Lupart (2008) found "[teacher] interactions with students were limited when compared with student interactions with EAs and thus the social standing of the student is unlikely to be promoted as a function of the teacher/student relationship" (p. 44). The goal of inclusion has to be both social and academic inclusion. Educational assistants might create barriers for students living with special needs in terms of social inclusion (Tews & Lupart, 2008). According to Causton-Theoharis (2009), adults supporting students living with special needs in classroom settings often provide support in a way that is invasive and intensive. Causton-Theoharis (2009) believes "when support becomes invasive it undermines the purpose of inclusion" (p. 37). Some examples of barriers and invasive support have been described by Giangreco (2010). He claims these barriers are well documented in the literature and students who are assigned the help of educational assistants may face "unnecessary dependence, stigmatization, interference with teacher engagement, interference with peer interactions, and limited access to competent instruction" (Giangreco, 2010, p. 341).

Rubie-Davies, Blatchford, Webster, Koutsoubou, and Bassett (2010) conducted research in England that compared teachers and educational assistants in their interactions with students. The researchers found some of the interactions and responses from the educational assistants were actually detrimental to student learning. One example is many of the educational assistants were observed assisting students to finish assignments with very little regard to the understanding of the concepts being taught. The researchers also found at times the educational assistants did not understand the concepts being taught but were in a position where they were supposed to help the student learn the concepts. The researchers concluded "TAs (EAs) are not teachers and we should not expect the same from them and the deployment of TAs as the primary educators for supported pupils, engaged in teaching interactions is unacceptable" (Rubie-Davies et al., 2010, p. 446).

Many argue educational assistants should be replaced with qualified teachers and clinicians (Brown et al., 1999). Giangreco et al. (2012; 2011) and Brown et al. (1999) have indicated the use of a one-on-one educational assistant should be used only when absolutely necessary and the need for this practice should be continuously evaluated. Furthermore, according to Giangreco et al. (2012), when an educational assistant is used, he or she must be trained, have a clear understanding of his or her role, and must be properly supervised. Assigning a one-on-one educational assistant should be a temporary intervention and the goal is independence with reducing support as independence is achieved (Giangreco et al., 2012).

The final risk identified by The Task Force was the application process may not really demonstrate a need for extra supports. As stated earlier, it has been difficult to obtain funding for students who do not have a medical diagnosis. Often students who do not have a diagnosis require additional supports. Student need is a far better indicator of support needed than a

medical diagnosis or a categorical label (Saskatchewan Ministry of Education, 2011). Using a medical model to determine need has created barriers for students and their families when no such diagnosis exists. The Saskatchewan Ministry of Education (2011) states that using a needsbased model to determine appropriate supports involves three guiding principles:

- 1. Inclusionary philosophies and beliefs. This includes such supports as differentiated instruction, parental engagement, fostering independence, and the use of assistive technology.
- 2. Intervention planning. This includes having a clearly defined referral process, personal program plans, transition planning, and service coordination.
- 3. Interpersonal Collaboration. This includes making sure that staff is qualified, professional development, school team collaboration, and engagement of agencies. (p. 4)

The risks associated with formula based funding.

The Task Force also identified four risks associated with the formula based funding model (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). Each of these risks will be discussed in some detail and compared to the literature.

The first risk identified by The Task Force is "the model (formula based) reduces accountability for the presence of a disability to get funding from the government" (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015, p. 18). This means that a diagnosis provided some accountability. Under the new formula funding model, anyone who is determined to have needs can receive

some support regardless of having a medical diagnosis. School divisions and schools will need to consider how funding is divided and to whom. If school divisions simply assign educational assistants to schools that are able to show need for a particular student, they will be no further ahead in terms of inclusion than they are now with a categorical funding application based system. Education and professional development is necessary for all of the stakeholders, including parents of students living with special needs, teachers, administrators, student services administrators, superintendents, and trustees.

There are different models that can be used to determine student need. One such model is the Response to Intervention Model (RTI) and is recommended by Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning (2014). RTI involves three tiers. Tier 1 includes quality teaching strategies including Universal Design for Learning (UDL), differentiated instruction, and co-teaching between the classroom teacher and the resource teacher (Katz, 2013). In other words, the first intervention for all learners is good classroom teaching, based on research based practices and pedagogy, to address the needs of all learners from the get go.

If students demonstrate challenges despite quality Tier 1 teaching practises, it is time to consider Tier 2 supports. Tier 2 continues to rely on quality classroom instruction but may also include small group or whole class interventions using research based practises designed to improve student learning (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014). Tier 3 of the RTI model involves more specialized interventions specific to the student who has demonstrated difficulty despite quality Tier 1 and Tier 2 interventions. According to Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning (2014), Tier 3 interventions are usually provided by the resource teacher or other specialist. While the resource teacher may have the training to implement more intensive interventions, it is important that the classroom teacher be involved in the planning and

implementation of these interventions by working alongside the resource teacher (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014).

Universal Design for Learning (UDL) is also recommended as a framework that promotes inclusion. Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning (2014) explains that "[in] education, universally designed schools, classrooms, curricula, and materials provide all students with access to the resources they require regardless of student needs" (p. 6). In other words, supports are provided to all students based on classroom need rather than individual student needs or diagnosis. In addition, universally designing a classroom can reduce the stigma often associated with special needs. For example, if a student requires sensory reducing tools such as noise reducing headphones, the teacher would have more than just one pair available so all students can benefit from blocking out noise from time to time.

In addition to Response to Intervention and Universal Design for Learning, schools might consider using the class review process as described by Brownlie and King (2000). Using class reviews allows teachers to determine their class strengths and challenges while setting goals to help all students achieve success. Then the school based team, which might include a school administrator, will decide the best way to support each classroom teacher in meeting the needs of all diverse learners.

The second risk of formula based funding identified by The Task Force is there is no distinction between the three levels of need. Under the previous, categorical based funding model there were three levels of funding to meet student need in the province. The first level was a student services grant that was distributed to divisions based on population. School divisions used this grant to meet the needs of students with mild to moderate learning or behaviour

challenges, while level two and level three funding resulted from the individual application process (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014).

The challenge under a formula based model as proposed by The Task Force is there will no longer be criteria set as to who meets level two or three funding. There is some risk associated with a funding system that does not identify particular students as needing support. Baker and Ramsey (2010) talk about the possibility that students living with special needs may not have their needs met if they are never identified. The authors claim when students are identified and funds provided specifically for them, there is more likelihood that programming will address their needs. A similar concern in regards to formula based funding is there is much evidence that shows students living with special needs are not evenly distributed across schools (Baker & Ramsey, 2010; Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003). English language learners and those living with special needs often live in higher poverty areas. Higher areas of poverty could actually receive less money while having more students with higher needs to educate (Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003).

The third identified risk associated with a formula based funding model according to The Task Force is the onus for determining where support (money) is going will now be in the hands of school divisions. Again, educating all partners in education is going to be vital. Student service administrators will have to ensure school principals and resource teachers understand research proven models that promote inclusion and quality instruction for all learners in diverse classrooms. Using Universal Design for Learning and the Response to Intervention models are examples of ways schools can ensure access to quality instruction and improved student learning for all (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014). School principals will have an

integral role here and they need to be educated on best inclusive practices to ensure all students' needs are met.

Theoharis and Causton (2014) developed a comprehensive school and system wide process to assist school and school division leaders to create inclusive schools for all learners. Theoharis and Causton (2014) define inclusion as "students with disabilities being educated in the general classroom and having full access to the general education curriculum, instruction, and peers, with needed supports" (p. 83). They then describe a seven step process in which schools and divisions can work towards meeting the goal of inclusion as defined above. The seven steps are:

- 1. Setting a vision.
- 2. Creating service delivery maps that represent the current service delivery model.
- 3. Aligning school structures.
- 4. Rethinking staffing and creating instructional teams.
- 5. Impacting classroom practices.
- 6. Ongoing monitoring, adjusting, and celebrating.
- 7. Ongoing: Creating a climate of belonging. (Theoharis & Causton, 2014, p. 83-87)

As schools and divisions move forward in the area of inclusion in the province of Manitoba it will be important to create processes such as the one described by Theoharis and Causton (2014). This will assist school leaders, including principals and resource teachers, to determine how to best meet the needs of all learners including those who live with special needs.

The final risk associated with a formula based funding model is the role of the resource teacher will be forced to change. Education for administrators and resource teachers is going to be imperative here. Administrators will need to insist that the role of the resource teacher(s) in their buildings shift to a more collaborative role which will include co-teaching, coaching, and consultation (Katz, 2013; AuCoin & Porter, 2013). Professional development will be crucial for both resource teachers and administrators as schools adopt more inclusive practices to meet the needs of all diverse learners. Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning's (2014) support document is a helpful tool for school principals to review with all staff to develop understanding the changing role of the resource teacher.

Inclusive Education: What the Research Tells Us

The underlying premise of inclusive education is all students regardless of ability have access to both the academic and social aspects of school. Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth (2007) outlines how school divisions must ensure all students have access to appropriate educational programming as mandated under the 2005 Amendment to the Public Schools Act. This support document clearly outlines the belief that "[inclusive] schools provide learning environments that are accessible to all students as places to learn, grow, be accepted, and enjoy the benefits of citizenship" (Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth, 2007, p. 7).

So what is inclusion and why is it so important? According to Prustlow (2003), education must "prepare students for active and responsible participation in a free and democratic society" (p. 67). If we want to live in an accepting and inclusive society, we can only get there by creating accepting and inclusive schools (Katz, 2012; Prustlow, 2003).

The move from service delivery based on the medical model to a needs based model is one way schools might work towards ensuring the diverse needs of students are met without labels and stigmas. The Saskatchewan Ministry of Education (2011) argued that a needs based service delivery model helps to ensure that students receive the programming supports that will help them be successful with or without a diagnosis. The change from a medical model to a needs based model is outlined in the following chart (p. 5):

Medical Model	Needs-Based Model
from a focus on the diagnosis and/or the categorical label of the student's disability	to a focus on the needs, strengths, and abilities of the student
from an emphasis on the "problems" or deficits of the student that need to be "cured" or managed	to an emphasis on the supports that the student requires and the elimination of barriers that obstruct access
from an approach that fosters dependence by sheltering and protecting the student	to an approach that nurtures independence/ interdependence by providing opportunities that promote the development of personal empowerment and self-determination
from a view that the student will benefit best by functioning in specialized environments in relative seclusion from others	to a view that the student will benefit best by functioning within the immediate community and wider society
from an unchanged society that expects the student to adapt to the environment in order to be included	to an evolving society that believes that all students belong and are valued members of a diverse society
from an attitude of pity and charity towards those with disabilities	to an attitude of respect and appreciation for diversity

Based on the literature, inclusion is possible. Many schools are achieving it and many are working towards it. To get there, collaboration among educators is crucial (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014; Katz, 2013; Saskatchewan Ministry of Education, 2011; Prustlow, 2003; Brownlie & King, 2000). Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning (2014) recommends four service delivery models that schools and divisions can use as they work towards greater inclusion. These are the consultative-collaboration model, the co-teaching

model, response to intervention (RTI), and the universal design model (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014).

Leadership for Inclusive Educational Reform

There is a lot of research that looks at school reform and school change. Much of this research looks closely at the role the school principal plays in successful school reform. With regard to inclusive education, there is a smaller, but developing body of work. McLeskey and Waldron (2015) state that "[strong], active principal leadership to ensure that teachers share core values and an institutional commitment to developing an effective inclusive school are one of three must haves for an effective, inclusive school to be developed and sustained" (p. 68).

Guzman (1997) shared several characteristics among school principals in successful inclusive schools. These characteristics include: open communication with staff; principal involvement in the IEP process; principal and parent communication; building collaboration with staff to work towards the common goal of inclusion; policies to deal with behaviour related discipline issues for students living with special needs; professional development for principals that focus on inclusion; teacher evaluations that focus on inclusive practices; and good problem solving skills. The school principal has an enormous amount of influence over what happens in the school.

A. L. Edmunds, Macmillan, Specht, Nowicki, and G. Edmunds (2009) state:

Principals enhance school culture by developing and celebrating common beliefs and attitudes among teachers and staff. By actively seeking out and implementing appropriate and timely professional development in inclusive practices for all school personnel, educational leaders will improve instructional applications, foster ongoing

positive attitudes about inclusion and students with exceptionalities, and cultivate authentic school environments that move inclusion. (p. 21)

The idea that school leaders must work towards creating a collaborative culture if the schools they lead are to be successful comes up time and time again in the literature (Fullan & Quinn, 2016; Hargreaves & Ainscow, 2015; Leithwood, 2010). According to Fullan and Quinn (2016), successful leaders will "create a culture of growth; know how to engage the hearts and minds of everyone; and focus their collective intelligence, talent, and commitment to shaping a new path" (p. 47). Furthermore, it is important for staff to share a common belief or vision as to what inclusion means to them and the students they serve (Hoppey & McLeskey, 2013). Staff may have certain assumptions as to what particular students are capable of learning and it is vital that leaders work staff through these assumptions to come up with a shared understanding of inclusion and what it means for all diverse learners (Ainscow & Sandill, 2010).

The province of Ontario set out to improve student learning for all learners and close the gap in literacy and numeracy between typical students and those students living with special needs (Hargreaves & Ainscow, 2015). Teachers reported more collaboration among staff members including more cooperation between classroom teachers and resource teachers.

Creating a shared set of beliefs is evident when many of the educators reported that there was a shift in thinking from "my students, to our students" (Hargreaves & Ainscow, 2015, p. 46).

In a meta-analysis of successful school districts seen as closing the gap between diverse learners, Leithwood (2010) found ten shared characteristics among these school districts. One of these characteristics included a focus on student achievement in which the educators developed a

shared vision of achievement to close the gap between diverse groups by raising academic expectations for all learners. Inclusive education has to focus on academic success and expectations for all learners must be set high.

Capacity building and quality professional development is another important characteristic of successful school reform (Fullan & Quinn, 2016; Hoppey & McLeskey, 2013; Leithwood, 2010) and school leaders play a vital role in this area. According to Hoppey and McLeskey (2013), the role of the principal should be one of a coach or a mentor. Professional development, according to Leithwood (2010), must be differentiated for individual professionals based on their needs. Like students in inclusive schools, teachers are also a diverse group of learners and school leaders must take this into account when planning for professional development opportunities. Fullan and Quinn (2016) also looked at the success of the Ontario school reforms that set out to close the gap between students living with special needs and typical students while improving literacy and numeracy education for all. Fullan and Quinn (2016) claim a large part of the success in Ontario was due to "improving teaching and learning at all levels of the system by using a capacity building approach" (p. 42). Successful school leaders recognize the importance of building teacher capacity and creating collaborative cultures for both the social and academic success of all diverse learners.

The Task Force clearly laid out both the pros and cons of formula based funding. By providing a context of funding of schools in Manitoba as well as a historical outline of inclusive education in Manitoba it is clear that the change in funding for students living with special needs from a categorical based model to a formula based model should be considered a positive move towards a more inclusive educational system in the province. Manitoba Education has provided a clear expectation to school divisions that they are to implement inclusive practices and they have

backed up that expectation with resources and supports to help divisions create inclusive cultures in their schools. Through interviews with student services administrators from across the province, I hoped to glean some insight as to how different divisions are planning for this change in funding. I also hoped to get a glimpse as to how divisions have and will continue to work at creating inclusive schools for all. In the next chapter, I provide a description of the qualitative research methods that were used to gather the data for this study.

Chapter 3: Research Methods

In this study, I used qualitative research methods to examine the perspectives of student services administrators regarding the funding model changes in Manitoba's education system. The Department of Education is changing the way in which students living with special needs are funded in Manitoba public schools. The change was based on recommendations made by a Task Force created to examine special needs funding in Manitoba. The Task Force recommended the province change from a categorical based funding model to a formula based funding model with the hopes the change would assist in improving inclusive education in Manitoba Schools (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015).

The purpose of this qualitative study is to examine the potential effects of the change in funding for students living with special needs in the province of Manitoba and to determine if this change will have an impact on inclusive education throughout the province. Six student services administrators from across Manitoba were interviewed.

In this study, I examine how student service administrators are preparing for the change in special needs funding in Manitoba and what outcomes they hope to achieve. Data for the research was obtained through interviews with each participant interviewed one time. Each interview lasted approximately one hour. Participants and their school divisions will remain as anonymous as is possible in a small province like Manitoba.

Research Participants

The research participants in this qualitative study were student services administrators representing various school divisions in Manitoba. After receiving ethics permission to conduct this study from the Education Nursing Research Board (ENREB) at the University of Manitoba

(Appendix A), I began the work of recruiting student services administrators to participate in my study.

The rationale for interviewing student services administrators is they are responsible for overseeing programming supports for students living with special needs within their school divisions. Among other responsibilities, student services administrators distribute supports to schools to assist in the education of all diverse students. Student services administrators work with clinicians, resource teachers, administrators, and other school staff to support the needs of students who live with special needs. Some student services administrators in Manitoba are members of the senior administrative team in the school division where they work and hold the title, *Assistant Superintendent of Student Services*. Others are one step below and report directly to an assistant superintendent. Thus, student services administrators are well informed and wield a lot of decision making power. It is likely that student services administrators will be called upon to lead the change from categorical based funding to formula based funding.

The method of sampling that I used in this study was purposeful sampling. I decided to exclude three school divisions from the study which according to Cohen, Manion, and Morrison (2000), means that I invited 34 school divisions to participate for a specific purpose. In this case, the specific purpose was I wanted to gain the perspectives of student services administrators from divisions who would be similarly impacted by the change in funding. Louis Riel School Division (LRSD) was not included in this study because it was participating in the pilot project (Manitoba Education, 2016b). The Division Scolaire Franco-Manitobaine (DSFM) and Frontier School Division (FSD) were also not included because their funding structure is different than other divisions, including receiving some funding from the Federal government (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). To recruit participants, I sent letters explaining my research

study to 34 superintendents (Appendix B). Of the 34 packages sent to superintendents across Manitoba, 14 granted permission and agreed to distribute the materials, 3 declined to participate, and 17 did not respond.

The letter sent to superintendents explained the purpose, nature and methods of the study and asked their permission to distribute materials to student services administrator(s) in their division. A letter of consent was also included in the package to superintendents (Appendix C). Of the six student services administrators interviewed all received the invitation to participate (Appendix D) and the letter of consent from their superintendents (Appendix E). I received written permission from five out of six superintendents whose school divisions were represented in this study (Four signed the consent form provided to them and one indicated permission in writing via email). I did not receive any communication from one superintendent. The participant had received the invitation package from his/her superintendent. Therefore, the decision was made with my advisor to include this participant in the study. Because the superintendent had distributed the invitation and the letter of consent to the student services administrator, I presumed that this student services administrator had the permission of the superintendent to participate in the study. Communication with the superintendent after the participant agreed to participate would have compromised the confidentiality of the participant.

I maintained a written record of all recruitment and data management processes, including correspondence, so that I was able to document data trails satisfactorily when requested by thesis committee members. As with all data, I kept this data secure.

In an effort to ensure participants were informed volunteers, the invitation provided student services administrators with an outline of the study, a letter of consent and a request to

contact the researcher should they wish to participate. Six student services administrators agreed to participate. I arranged to meet with the participants at a time and place that was convenient for them. The interviews took place between May and June of 2017.

Data Collection

As participants responded to my request to interview them for this research study, I communicated with them via email to arrange a date and time to meet. Prior to starting each interview, I provided each participant with a copy of a participant consent form (Appendix E) and asked them to sign it. I reminded each participant that the interview was confidential. I also let each participant know that a final copy of the entire thesis will be sent to them upon completion. I recorded interviews on two recording devices with participants' knowledge and permission. I explained they would receive a verbatim transcript of the interview for verification prior to data analyses. I explained if there was anything in the transcript they wanted changed or omitted, they would have the opportunity to do so. Finally, I let each participant know I would assign a pseudonym to him/her to ensure anonymity and to assist myself in keeping the data straight.

The interviews were conducted at a place and at a time convenient for the student services administrator. Prior to each interview it was important to spend a few minutes establishing rapport between myself and the interviewee. Bogdan and Biklen (2007) explain that taking a few moments to break the ice and to establish some rapport between the interviewer and the interviewee is a necessary first step in the interview process. As each interview progressed it was important for myself as the researcher to follow the recommendations made by Bogdan and Biklen (2007), including to listen carefully, seek clarification, and be flexible.

At the beginning of each interview I described my research, its purpose, and the role of the interviews. My interview questions were designed to be open-ended (Appendix F). Bogdan and Biklen (2007) recommend making the interviewee feel as if he or she is an expert in the field being studied. The student services administrators are most certainly the experts in my study and I tried to honour their expertise by listening carefully to what each one had to say.

I conducted, recorded, and transcribed six semi-structured interviews. As described by Cohen et al. (2000), the interview process is one that allows the participant to discuss experiences and opinions about a topic which is of interest to him/her. After the initial introductions, each of the six interviews did in fact seem more like a conversation than an interview. The participants spoke freely and many answered some of the questions far before I had the chance to ask them. The six interviews took place over a period of approximately five weeks. I transcribed each interview within a few days and sent a copy to the participant with the request to read the typed transcript and advise me about any changes or deletions they would like to see.

Data Analysis

After each interview, I typed a verbatim transcript. I included the date, time, and pseudonym of the person who was interviewed. I followed the method of transcribing recorded interviews as described by Bogdan and Biklen (2007) in which I labeled the speakers, "I" for myself as the interviewer and the pseudonym appointed to the participant who was interviewed. Sufficient margins were kept on the transcripts so that there was room for notes during the analysis stage. After each interview was transcribed, I sent a copy to the interviewee for review.

It was during this stage that participants could have me change or edit any information they provided during the interview. One participant called me on the telephone and asked to change or expand some of his/her answers so that they were clearer. Creswell and Miller (2000) describe this as a type of member checking in which, "researchers may have participants view the raw data (e.g., transcriptions or observational field notes) and comment on their accuracy (p. 127).

After all of the interviews were conducted and each recorded interview was transcribed, I started to review the data. Each interview took approximately one hour which yielded between seven to twelve typed pages of data (single spaced, 12 font). To begin, I read through the raw data several times. Then using the interview questions as a guide, I started to write down phrases and key words from the transcripts. I wrote down the questions on separate sheets of paper and then wrote down responses from each of the participants. I also included a section entitled *other* to be sure to include comments that fell outside of the questions asked. At this time I separated urban and rural participants so that I could determine if their responses were different based on their location.

Then, I began the work of coding the data. Bogdan and Biklen (2007) explain that the first step in coding the data is to develop a coding system. This includes looking through the data for patterns and themes and developing coding categories that allow the researcher to sort and organize the data. A theme is described by Bogdan and Biklen (2007) as "a concept or theory that emerges from your data" (p. 200). I examined the data that had been separated into urban and rural responses. I then started to write down themes from each section noting which participant (using a pseudonym) said what. There was a lot of information that came out of the data and I coded it several times as I looked for all emerging themes, making sure I was not missing anything or leaving out important ideas from the transcripts. From there I was able to

order the ideas that emerged, ranging from the most common to those ideas that were only mentioned by one participant but still might be useful in the analyses and in case they became important points later on. I shared the data analysis section and the process with my thesis advisor who reviewed it as a form of debriefing. Peer debriefing according to Creswell and Miller (2000) is "the review of the data and research processes by someone who is familiar with the research or the phenomenon being explored (p. 129). This, according to the authors, contributes to the trustworthiness of the analysis.

Data Interpretation

Once the data coding was complete, the data interpretation process began. During this stage, themes are developed based on the patterns identified in the data (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). The Task Force on Special Needs Funding made it clear in their report to the Minister that the change to formula funding was proposed as a way to improve inclusive education in Manitoba (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). The data from this research along with its interpretation was examined through a lens of inclusion, seeking to answer the question: "Will this change to formula based funding help to improve inclusive education in Manitoba?" In the next chapter I provide a detailed analysis of the data from the interviews with the six student services administrators who participated in this study.

Chapter 4: Findings

In this chapter I examine the responses from the interviews with the six student services administrators who participated in this study. It was evident each of these student services administrators has a deep understanding of inclusive education and they care deeply about the students, staff, and community they serve. The six participants were open and were very willing to not only answer my questions, but to share their stories. All participants were employed in divisions that would be implementing the changed funding model for the upcoming school year.

The themes that I identified from the data include: divisions had been working on improving inclusive education long before the announcement of the funding change; the roles of various divisional staff will change; divisions have begun to prepare for the change by having conversations with various stakeholders; divisions will rely on data sources like class and school profiles to organize and distribute supports; and the changed funding model could result in improved inclusive practice but there is some fear that this change may actually encourage more segregated practices to be put in place if its implementation does not go well.

Inclusive Education: A Continuation of the Journey

One idea was evident throughout the interviews with the six student services administrators. They are all extremely knowledgeable and passionate about inclusive education. Five of the six provided detailed examples of how inclusive education has already been promoted in their divisions. The one participant who did not provide details, might have had details to give, but it just did not come up during this particular interview.

In 2005 the province of Manitoba enacted the *Appropriate Educational Programming Amendment* that was designed, along with the accompanying *Regulations*, to mandate that all students in Manitoba have access to an appropriate education. The particular target was the

population of students who require more individualized content or processes. Since this regulation was passed, The Department of Education provided school divisions with various resources to improve the appropriateness of educational programming. The participants who were interviewed talked about many different ways they as divisional leaders are already working with staff to improve inclusive education.

One participant spoke about how as a division they have been talking about doing business differently for the past six years. This is well before The Task Force on Special Needs Funding was created. In this division they have allowed schools to use funds allotted through the funding application process for resources other than educational assistant (EA) time. "They could use their money for either human resources, materials, or professional development for teachers or EAs."

Another participant talked about how they have already started to use educational assistants differently and they have encouraged schools to use the principles of Universal Design for Learning (UDL) as a way to improve inclusive education in their division.

One participant talked about how as a division they changed their support model several years ago. "It was looking at support not just being educational assistants...So, it can be co teaching. It can be a social worker going in and working with the classroom on a particular program."

Another participant talked about how they have already begun to look at their service delivery in regards to clinicians. The participant said:

I was in one class last week where there are a lot of EAL (English as an Additional Language) learners and a lot of the students' language was very weak; phonemic awareness was poor. So instead of the speech language clinician trying to pull out all of

those individual kids, she was co teaching with the classroom teacher. Together, they did the planning; they set the environment up and the results were amazing. Absolutely amazing.

The idea inclusive education is a journey that divisions have been on for a long time was a common theme among participants. When asked if the change to funding might improve inclusive education, most said it would make it better because the "detrimental funding applications" would be eliminated. However most seemed to feel that funding is just a small piece of inclusive education. "I think we consider our division an inclusive division and we work long and hard to make that happen. So, I would assume that this model will just continue to support and enhance our journey."

Changing Roles and Responsibilities

Throughout the interviews a common theme was the roles and responsibilities of various school staff will change as a result of the new funding model. All six participants discussed roles and responsibilities of staff changing. All six talked about the roles of educational assistants and clinicians. Four talked about the role of the principal, and four talked about the impact the change in funding will have on teachers. In the original literature review I talked about the changing role of the educational assistant and the clinician under a new funding model. I also examined literature that looks at the role of the resource teacher and the crucial role the school principal plays in supporting inclusion. The student services administrators themselves seem to be empowered through the change in funding.

The educational assistant.

During all six of the interviews with student services administrators the topic of educational assistants came up repeatedly. As discussed in Chapter 2, the field of education has

misused educational assistants (EAs) since we moved from segregated settings to more inclusive environments (Giangreco et al., 2012). The research on the inappropriate use of EAs is extensive and it appears that divisions in Manitoba continue to misuse and over-rely on educational assistants. In talking with the participants, it seems that while there is agreement educational assistants have been overused and used inappropriately, they will still have an important role to play in service delivery under the new funding model. However, the EA role will probably be significantly changed.

One participant spoke about learning from EAs they have been essentially leading the programming for individual students. The participant said:

I feel really strongly that if this is going on and we know it, it is against the law. We have to make those changes and ensure that classroom teachers in collaboration with their student support team and their divisional people are working together to support the kids. Another student services administrator talked about the misuse of EAs in high school classes to help struggling learners. The participant said:

The biggest thing that the high schools do is rely on the EAs to do the remedial, the reteaching which I think is ethically wrong... Why would we think that the kids with the greatest learning needs would need the least formally educated person in your building?

The student services administrators seem to be aware that the use of EAs is problematic in some of their schools. It seems under the old system, most of the divisions fell into the model of: "if a child is funded Level 2 they get three hours of EA support. If they are funded Level 3 they receive six hours of EA support". The Department of Education never mandated this. It does seem, however, that the use of individual funding applications certainly perpetuated this practice. All six participants said the new formula funding model will provide them with

flexibility to use the dollars to purchase more clinicians, co teachers, or resources other than just EAs. One participant said, "I am going to use this new formula to buy fewer EAs and more professional staff."

All of the participants said the move to formula based funding will not eliminate the need for educational assistants. Divisions may require fewer educational assistants and use the ones they do employ differently but there will always be a need for educational assistants in our system. One participant said:

The reality is that we still need some human resources. We are not going to get rid of EAs, but we can educate them, use them better...We have to educate our EAs so that they know what their role is and how they can best support that classroom.

One division is planning on implementing the new funding model into just a few of their schools as a sort of pilot in the next year (2017-18). The other schools will remain status quo as they learn from the pilot schools. The student services administrator from that division talked about changing the ways in which EAs are assigned. The administrator said:

If we take a look at the role of the educational assistants for example, right now they are very much student specific. Next year and I will think of our pilot schools, it may not be set up like that. For example, if there is an EA in the school, the EA's assignment may be with a variety of different children.

The clinician.

All six of the student services administrators I interviewed talked about increasing the number of clinicians employed by their division and talked about their changing role. The changed role of the clinician will be a direct result of the new formula funding model. Because schools will no longer be collecting data for and writing individual funding applications,

clinicians will undoubtedly have more time to spend on service delivery. "And for all of our specialists, whether it is OT, PT, SLP, Psychology, they spend an inordinate amount of time doing assessments and the pieces they need for the funding application," said one participant.

It seems that the six participants believe having more trained professionals in schools will have direct benefits not only for students who require additional supports, but for all students.

When clinicians are able to co-teach in a classroom with specific target students in mind, other students will benefit. One participant said:

It is not about having an EA. It is about having an OT to teach self-regulation. It's about having a speech language pathologist or a reading clinician doing some intensive reading and language instruction.

One participant talked about the role of the clinician and how it has already started to change.

The participant said:

For example, clinicians in the past have spent a lot of time in their work doing assessments because it was required for funding applications. Well, we are going to stop that and we are only going to do it when we really need it. So we have already started to do some things: reworking the dollars, reworking people's roles and responsibilities and in the school profiles it was very clear where people were preparing for that - for example, speech and language pathologists being targeted in Kindergarten classes.

While all six participants talked about the potential positive effects of having more trained clinicians co-teaching and providing direct services to students, two identified potential barriers that may need to be addressed as services expand in this area. One barrier as described by one student services administrator is related to provincial licensing of clinicians. "I know one school has asked for their own speech language pathologist. Yes. Please do. The problem is the

whole clinician licensing gets in the way... Those are some of the structures that we actually have to break down." This participant went on to explain that the process for clinicians to obtain their school clinician certificate takes several months and school divisions are only allowed to hire a clinician with the certificate. Breaking down these barriers will be important as divisions strive to incorporate these practices, such as clinicians providing more direct service to students in their assigned schools.

Another participant talked about the idea of providing professional supports based on needs - the idea that there can be flexibility in hiring staff based on the needs of one's population. This participant talked about local teacher associations and contracts being a barrier to this practice. The participant said:

This particular situation is going to be a term position, but we also know that two back to back terms becomes a permanent position according to the collective agreement...How do we have the flexibility to address the needs of our kids, without necessarily always having permanent staff?

These are valid questions for which no one provided black and white answers.

The teacher.

The classroom teacher has more impact on students than any other person or resource in any given classroom. It is no surprise that four participants talked about how the change to formula based funding will directly impact expectations on teachers to take increased instructional responsibility for all of their students. This change appears to be a result of divisions using educational assistants differently. Because EAs will no longer be attached to individual students, teachers will have to take ownership of all students in their class. This is

currently the law, but this, as admitted by a few of the participants, is not always current practice and they agreed they are looking forward to this positive change. One participant said:

When they take more ownership with our kids who are struggling learners, I think teachers will spend more time with them and then on the heels of that I think our classroom teachers will become more skilled because right now our classroom teachers are not always the ones who are working with students with severe cognitive disabilities or behaviour issues.

This sentiment that EAs have been responsible for students who require additional learning support needs was raised by another student services administrator who said:

Our division has always, more so at the middle and senior levels, been heavily reliant on EAs for the delivery of educational programming. This is the one thing I want to change in our division with this new formula. It is that teachers teach kids and EAs help in that process. That is a student's human right - to have access to the teacher.

One participant talked about the importance of building capacity among classroom teachers to work with students with additional learning needs through support from the division. Another participant talked about teachers taking on more instructional responsibility and being able to meet these demands. "I don't think they can do it all in the way that we have traditionally done business. They really have to change their pedagogy."

Another participant said:

I think my final piece will be: don't forget the classroom teacher. Some classrooms in small schools in particular or rural schools have huge numbers of kids with very significant needs and at the end of the day it only matters what happens in the classroom. So we can dream all our ideas and we can say we have all of these supports, but if we

haven't remembered what the teacher needs and we haven't served the teacher, we have failed.

The principal.

As discussed earlier, the role of the principal is extremely important in creating and maintaining an inclusive school. One participant talked about the important role the school principal will play in the roll out of formula based funding. "Their work in schools is intentional work. Talking to all staff as a whole, school plans, PD, how they build capacity within their own buildings, how they model, going to IEP meetings, knowing every kid, being in classrooms themselves." It is clear that the expectations the student services administrators have for principals are very high. Another participant said:

I think that once we unleash the demon of six hours for this kid, three hours for this kid...I mean there are some non-negotiable kids and we must address that. That is appropriate education. That is on the principal. We can provide them with all of the supports, but they must make sure that happens.

In Manitoba, the *Appropriate Educational Programming Amendment* puts the responsibility of appropriate education on the school principal (The Public Schools Act, 2005). The foundational assumption, it seems, is that all school principals have a deep understanding of inclusion. As one participant from a rural division pointed out, that may not always be the case. The participant said:

That is my fear about giving principals autonomy. We have to all have a strong vision about what this looks like... Does the principal really believe in inclusion?... So giving autonomy to principals to allocate as needed is great, but then we need to make sure that our principals have the shared vision – a mutual understanding of what it looks like.

The student services administrator.

There was another change in roles that emerged from the data. The student services administrators themselves seem to be preparing for a change in their role that will see them working more closely with principals and teachers than with mainly clinicians and resource teachers. One participant talked about opening the lines of communication with principals. The participant said:

I would like to ask a purposeful sample of early years, middle years, and senior years (principals) – what do you know and what do you need to know? ... We can't just move forward thinking everyone knows where we are going.

One participant started to have conversations with school administration on a monthly basis. "So we are always in conversations...So it is being in tune with what is happening in those schools and having those discussions." Another participant talked about involving school administrators from the beginning. The participant said:

So we started at the administrator level and we talked about all of the issues and all of the impacts and what we need to do and what it needs to look like and then mapped it out from there.

Another participant talked about helping principals learn how to use different supports rather than just educational assistants under the new funding model. "They can see the flexibility in that starting to move their people around in a much more effective way...I think that they have felt that they had to do it that way because that was the rule."

It seems the student services administrators I interviewed are changing their role to work with the principals at the school level in the area of inclusion. They also seem to feel more empowered to make some of these changes. One participant said:

I think as leaders we set the tone... Because just as they think about their students and supporting their students I have to think how do I support the adults who support the kids? How do I give them the tools they need?

Another participant spoke about some changes that will be a result of the change in funding. "I am going to use the formula to buy fewer EAs and more professional staff. I am hoping to put more resources in our schools that can provide resources to kids."

One student services administrator talked about the leadership role and how to help people shift their thinking. The administrator said:

How are we doing the work? That is the most important and how are we serving our kids?... That is another way that we are really trying to shift thinking and get people to be thinking from a planning point of view, not a reactive point of view.

The student services administrators in this study seem to be looking at their own roles as leaders and how they can best lead the change to formula funding.

Preparation for the Change: Conversations with Stakeholders

With the change in the funding formula fast approaching, the six participants all talked about different ways they have been preparing for the change. Five out of the six student services administrators talked about how they have communicated with parents and the community about the change to formula based funding. Four of the participants spoke about initiating conversations with school administrators about the upcoming change. Three of the six already initiated conversations with the different union groups who represent teachers and EAs. Three of the six had initial conversations with staff about the change. One participant reported there have been conversations with the board of trustees about the change to formula funding. It is important to note that because a participant did not mention having conversations with a

particular group of stakeholders does not mean it hasn't happened or will not happen in the future. The participants covered a lot of ground in one hour, so in all likelihood there are things they did not talk about.

Parents

Parents are the most important people in a child's life. There is lots of research on the value of schools creating positive relationships with the families of the students in their care. In Manitoba, parents are expected to be included and involved in the development of Individual Education Plans (Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth, 2007). Under categorical based funding in which schools submitted an application for Level 2 or Level 3 funding in the name of a specific student, the parents (guardian) were required to sign the application before schools could submit it to the province for review. Funding applications typically included everything that was wrong with a child and nothing that was right. One participant talked about hosting a parent evening for students who have received Level 2 or Level 3 funding. She said after she was approached by a couple who were extremely happy that the funding application process was going to be eliminated. The participant said:

[The parents] comment to me was: 'you cannot believe how happy we are that the funding application is gone.' I asked why is that and they said: 'well when we get called in and all of the people are nice and everyone tells us how wonderful our child is and so forth, but we have to write all of this stuff on a piece of paper to prove that he needs help.' They said it is just so hard to sit there and hear and read all of this stuff about their child.

The problem divisions may experience now is that, for so many years under the old deficit based model, schools actually convinced parents that their child needed support (which in

most cases equated to an EA). Five out of the six student service administrators I spoke to had some sort of communication with parents. Two sent home a letter to the parents of students who had previously received provincial funding; one hosted a parent evening; one had the information put on the divisional website; and another had school staff have intentional conversations with parents about what this change in funding will look like for their child.

Surprisingly, none of the five participants who initiated some sort of conversations with parents reported any negative feedback. One participant reflected there almost seems to be a lack of interest from parents, not only in that division, but that has been reported by colleagues from other divisions as well. The participant gave this possible explanation:

I think they have been pretty happy. Their kids get to come to their community school; they get to meet friends; parents feel welcomed; schools have done amazing things to make sure that kids are in concerts and going to camp and just being who they are and put kids beyond what anybody ever dreamed their capabilities were...This generation of parents only know what they know. They don't know what the past was. I think they are just darned happy.

Most of the participants talked about having some sort of communication with parents about the upcoming change in funding. It appears from this limited sample, parents are accepting of the change from categorical based funding to formula based funding.

Principals.

As discussed previously in this chapter, the student services administrators who participated in this study talked a lot about the important role that the principal will play in a successful (or perhaps unsuccessful) roll out of the new formula funding model. Four of the six participants spoke about their division initiating conversations to prepare principals for this

upcoming change. Principals as leaders in a building will be expected to lead their staff through the changes. One participant said:

I like to think I have been open and honest with principals for two years now. I have talked about it. This is coming – formula funding...I have tried to help them understand the why. Because we are moving from a medical model, a diagnostic model to where we are going to have more conversations about programming.

In one division, principals will be expected to ensure that inclusive practices are a priority in their schools. One participant said:

So, if you have identified inclusive practices in your school as a top priority, how does it fit in with your school plan? How does it fit with people's professional growth, and how does it fit in with the [professional development] that happens in the school? The work of the principal in promoting inclusive practices that coincide with the new funding model will have to be diligent, intentional work that happens every day.

One participant spoke about providing administrators with professional development around class and school profiles. This participant said the information was very well received by the principals. The participant said:

Principals decided they were going to do their own PLCs (professional learning communities). All of a sudden principals were asking one of the consultants if they could work with three or four of them together to learn about the class profile piece.

In providing principals with information about class and school profiles, this student services administrator helped administrators learn about their role in the process and it appears the information was welcomed.

Another participant from a division that encourages its schools to incorporate Universal Design for Learning talked about the work they have done with principals who are expected to help teachers. The participant said:

We have asked the school principals to give the information to their classroom teachers... and basically what we are saying is classroom teachers are going to have to look at backwards design... because they are in charge of all of their students.

The expectation is it will be the school principal who will supervise and coach the teachers to more inclusive practices.

One participant talked about the importance of building relationships with school principals. "So, I am hoping to build better relationships with school principals and I am trying to do that by being transparent so that there is a level of trust because I don't believe in mandates." The four student services administrators who talked about building capacity in administrators are doing a variety of different things such as professional development, conversations, and building trust – all necessary for the leaders of schools as they lead their staff through this change.

Organizing and Distributing Supports: The Use of Data Sources

When asked how they would organize and distribute supports using the new formula funding model that will come into effect in September 2017, each of the participants talked about looking at the needs of all the students in the building, deciding what supports would be best to meet those needs, and then distributing the available supports as needed. The focus will be on programming, not needs. Each of the participants talked about shifting the focus to programming. One participant said:

Right now they get the money generated and this is how we are going to use the money and now it will be: here is the school profile, this is what we need, and this is the money we will need to do that.

A few of the participants talked about the shift as being a little bit like backwards planning.

Five of the participants talked about using class and school profiles as data sources to help organize and distribute supports under the new funding model. The one student services administrator who did not talk specifically about class and school profiles did talk about gathering information about student needs, but did not provide detail as to how the information will be gathered. Some of the participants referred to other data sources they might use, including Individual Education Plans (IEPs), clinician referrals, and school plans.

Class and school profiles.

Class profiles have been used as an inclusive school practice for several years. In typical class profiles, the classroom teacher is asked to identify the strengths, challenges and goals in his or her classroom (Brownlie & King, 2000). School profiles are the result of the various class profiles being compiled together. Five of the six participants talked about their intention to use class and school profiles as a way to distribute and organize supports. Two participants described how they are changing the whole school profile process. One participant said:

We used the RTI (response to intervention) model. We haven't done it like that before, it is quite different. We completely abandoned our previous practice and started new because we thought a fresh new look would be important to give people the visual that this is a change process.

Another student services administrator also talked about changing the school profile document.

They asked for input from principals, learning support (resource) teachers, and counsellors to

make sure they were not missing anything. This document was to be completed by May 15 to give them time to organize and distribute supports. "Based on what principals in collaboration with their student support team recommend and based on what I know, we will try to accommodate them as best as we can," one participant said.

One student services administrator talked about using school profiles as a sort of backwards planning tool. This administrator said:

So it is almost working backwards... right now they get the money generated and then decide how to use the money. Now it will be here is our school profile, this is what we need and this is the money we will need to do that.

A similar sentiment came from another participant:

So that is where I have this school profile and I will stick to it. I will ask schools to tell me the needs in their building...It is not 'so these are my kids who misbehave and they are always in at recess.' It is 'these are the things I am doing to reduce that.'

The school profile, it seems, will play an important role for student services administrators in deciding what support to allocate and how much. However, it is important to remember schools are fluid places with students moving in and out. The government decided for the 2017-2018 school year, schools will get the same amount they received for the 2016-2017 school year. A few of the student services administrators I interviewed talked about their concern about students who move in from other divisions. Under the old, categorical based system, if a student moved in, the province simply transferred the money to the receiving division. That transfer of funds will not happen anymore. It will be okay when students move away because the division will not lose support, but what will happen when they receive a student with significant

needs and all of the dollars have already been allotted? This sentiment was expressed by one participant:

What happens in February or March if you have a student move into your division who has Down Syndrome or who uses a wheelchair and needs a full time EA?...I can't say here is your money and that is all you get. Then I have to go to the secretary-treasurer or to the school board and say okay, this student moved in and we have to have that kind of flexibility to meet those needs.

Another participant expressed similar concerns, but has already decided that money will be allocated up front to schools in the beginning of the year. The participant said:

And one of my choices was, when I looked at the money is that I could have kept a huge sum of money just in case, but I would rather see the money in the schools than just in case somebody arrives. So I have left a very small, tight budget. Maybe not enough.

Maybe next year at this time I will say I have learned I need to leave more money in there.

Using class and school profiles as data sources will be important tools for student services administrators, but it is important to remember that these profiles change from March when divisions set their budgets and throughout the school year, particularly in transient areas.

A Return to Segregated Practices?

Another theme that came out of the data was four of the six participants talked about being fearful the new funding model may actually encourage the return of some segregated practices. This is contradictory of the intent of The Task Force. Manitoba Education and Training (2015) states:

As our inclusive culture, beliefs, and attitudes have evolved, school-based systems, structures, and practices have changed to match them. It has become increasingly apparent that our provincial funding structure, specifically our "special needs funding," is outdated. (p. 7)

The change from categorical based to formula based funding was intended to improve inclusive practices. However, four of the student services administrators who were interviewed for this study are fearful some segregated practices might return.

One participant was concerned that as divisions look at profiles and decide how to organize and distribute supports it will be very division specific. Divisions will get to set their own criteria. This participant voiced that this may pit divisions against each other:

Will divisions that provide more specialized programming appear more appealing?

Parents talk. In this division you get this or that and we don't get those supports at all in this division. Do you start to get hot spots where people move to because there are more supports? And then is that an inclusive province?

Another participant talked about the fear that while teachers are trying to sort out this new funding model and the inclusive practices that go with it they will return to ability grouping in their classrooms because they don't know what else to do. One participant talked about a possible return to segregation simply because it appears cheaper. "Another worry for me is that we can go backwards and we can go back to segregated settings. Because it is cheaper... I am worried about that because it is cheaper to bus everybody to one place," the participant said.

Finally, one participant talked about the fear that in providing schools with fewer EAs, they may return to having more cohorts as a way to meet the needs of students regardless of whether there are other supports available. The participant said:

My fear is that: 'well if I am not going to get an EA for every kid, I will take my two EAs and put them in a classroom with a group of kids'. That is my fear that there will be a pendulum swing backwards because they don't have the resources so we will put them all in the same place.

This participant talked about the important role senior administration will have to play to ensure this does not happen. This participant went on to say sometimes principals give in to the teachers and put teachers' needs over the needs of students. The role of senior administration including student services administrators will be making sure these types of cohorts do not start popping up in schools in their divisions. This is where education and capacity building for administrators and teachers is going to be important as we embark on this new funding model and all that it entails.

Other Considerations

There were a few other points one or two of the participants talked about that, while not themes, are important considerations as we move ahead with formula based funding. I mentioned in Chapter Two of this thesis that one of the risks associated with the formula based funding model is the role of the resource teacher must change (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). This sentiment was reiterated by two of the participants. One participant said it is "because some of those learning support teachers were comfortable filling out paperwork and maybe not so comfortable being out and working alongside teachers in classrooms." The other participant said:

There are still some resource teachers...I was thinking, not only are EAs a barrier to the classrooms and peers and teachers, so are resource teachers. In some schools resource teachers think they own the kids...So there is a presumed understanding that the resource teacher owns those kids.

One suggestion this participant had was changing their title from resource teacher to learning support teacher. This, the participant explained, will allow others to view them as more of a support to teachers.

One of the participants talked about the importance the Department of Education is going to play in the successful roll out of this funding model. This participant believes the student services branch and the program/curriculum branch need to get together and start talking about continuous improvement for all. "That is where we need…if I was going to dream big, we need program and student services working together … in their messaging and in their work," the participant said.

In summary, the themes that came from the interviews with six student services administrators include: divisions have been working on inclusion for many years; there will be changes in the roles and responsibilities of staff; divisions have begun to prepare for the funding change by having conversations with parents and administrators; divisions will use class and school profiles to collect data to help organize and distribute supports; and there is a fear that the move towards formula funding could cause some segregated practices to return.

In the next section of this paper I provide an analysis of the findings. Areas of further research and recommendations are outlined to assist school divisions in successfully rolling out this new formula funding model through the lens of inclusive education.

Chapter 5: Moving Forward with Formula Based Funding

In this study I set out to gain the perspectives of student services administrators in regards to Manitoba's upcoming change from categorical based funding to formula based funding in an effort to provide insight to educators as to how this new funding model might impact inclusive education. In this chapter I will present a discussion of the findings and compare it to the literature research on inclusive education. I will conclude the chapter with recommendations based on the findings from this study.

Discussion

From the findings there were no distinctions specific only to rural or urban divisions. This means, that in this particular sample of student services administrators, there were no issues or concerns addressed by only rural or only urban school divisions. It is important to remember only six student services administrators were interviewed so therefore only a handful of Manitoba divisions are represented in this study. Below is a discussion based on the findings from the data analyses section of this paper.

Formula Based Funding: A Welcome Change

Each of the student services administrators seemed hopeful the change from categorical based funding to formula based funding will be a positive change and enhance inclusive education in the province. Inclusive Education has been encouraged in Manitoba since 2001. In 2005, Manitoba Education mandated appropriate educational practices through the *Appropriate Educational Programming Amendment* to the *Public Schools Act*. Since that time Manitoba Education has published many support documents to assist divisions in creating inclusive schools for all of their diverse students. Five of the six participants spoke about the many different inclusive practices that are being used in their divisions. All five talked about their divisions

being on this journey for several years. Participants reported that school divisions have been working towards inclusion for many years prior to the completion of The Task Force Report (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015).

In their report to the Minister, The Task Force made the recommendation to change the way in which Manitoba funds the education of students living with special needs. The Task Force recommended the province eliminate the categorical based system and replace it with a formula based system. These recommendations were based on the belief that "[as] our inclusive culture, beliefs, and attitudes have evolved, school-based systems, structures, and practices have changed to match them. It is increasingly apparent that our provincial funding structure, specifically our 'special needs funding' is outdated" (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015, p. 7). Categorical based funding is based on a medical model or a deficit model. Under categorical based funding schools looked at everything that was wrong with a student. As schools have evolved in inclusive practices, a formula based model appears to be a much better fit with beliefs about diversity and inclusion. Instead of necessarily looking at what is wrong with the student, formula based funding could allow educators to look at the environment to ensure the proper supports are put into place so all students can be successful.

The student services administrators who participated in this study talked about the ongoing improvements their divisions have made in the area of inclusion. As one division started to make changes to the way in which resources are distributed six years ago, they first discussed the situation among key divisional staff. This group included administrators, resource teachers, and clinicians. One participant said, "We talked about Manitoba's inclusion policy, our own philosophy as a school division, and what other ways we could support students other than (assigning) EAs."

Talking about beliefs is important in a collaborative culture and a necessary first step when a group is going to embark on a change of how things are done. Leithwood (2010) studied schools finding success in closing the gap between diverse students. He found the administration in these successful schools started the work by having their staff examine their visions and beliefs about student learning and then subsequently using these visions to guide all of the work going forward.

Each of the student services administrators seemed to be happy there will be a change to the funding process. One participant said, "I really do like the idea of having money and being able to meet the needs of our students in the school settings. I do applaud the government for going in that direction." Another student services administrator said:

I like to think that we are pretty good in our division for supporting kids in the way that they need to be supported but I think this will make it easier for us. It totally takes away that funding application that is so detrimental and then once a school has worked on that piece it is like the child is forever marked...I think that things like UDL (universal design for learning), formula funding, and changing some of those systems and structures is really the beginning of doing all that.

Another participant talked about the work done with staff leading up to the change to formula based funding. The participant said:

They (the school teams) are not 'awfulizing', saying that they have so many kids with needs, but rather they are looking at the learning profiles of the children. 'What do we truly need?' ...doing the planning for kids rather than the 'awfulizing'. I think the potential of that is tremendous.

The change to formula based funding is a welcome change and it seems the student services administrators see it as removal of a barrier that was the funding application system. It is important to remember funding is just a small piece in the bigger puzzle of inclusive education. From the interviews it seems some divisions had been working hard to improve inclusive education for their diverse students well before the province announced the change to formula based funding. The change in funding has the potential to remove some barriers but in the end there are many other factors that need to be implemented in order for divisions and schools to be truly inclusive.

Preparation for change.

All of the student services administrators I interviewed talked about the different ways they are helping to prepare their divisions and the community they serve for the change in funding. In the following sections I discuss some of these findings and compare them to the literature.

Conversations with stakeholders.

In Manitoba, there are several stakeholders involved in public education. School Boards, local communities, parents, and educators are all important stakeholders. It is important each of these groups are educated about the change to formula funding including why the change was necessary and how it can best be implemented in our schools.

School boards.

Manitoba school divisions are funded by the province and by local tax payers. Each school board is comprised of local, elected school trustees who determine policy and the division of funding to its schools. So, school boards, including school trustees and senior administration (superintendents, secretary-treasurers) are important stakeholders who need to understand

important changes such as formula based funding. Furthermore, school trustees in particular represent the community in which they are elected. School divisions need to communicate with the taxpayers about the change to formula based funding and why this can be a positive and welcome change in Manitoba schools.

Parents.

Parents are the most important person in a child's life. It is important for school divisions to communicate with parents, particularly those who have children who live with special needs. For many years in Manitoba, school divisions wrote funding applications for level two or level three funding and in many instances convinced parents that their child needed an educational assistant. Five out of six interviewees had already initiated some form of communication regarding the funding change with parents and community members. Two divisions sent a letter home, two had parent/community information evenings, and one division updated information about the change on the divisional website.

What exactly will change for parents of students who live with special needs because of the change to formula based funding? Parents will no longer have to read and sign off on a funding application. While this is seen as a positive by many, some parents might be wondering how schools will be accountable to meet the learning needs of their child. Schools will continue to be responsible to meet the needs of children who previously had provincial funding. This cannot change. It is essential the processes that took place in previous years continue to occur. These processes include such things as intake meetings when a child starts school or transfers to a new school and individualized education planning meetings with parent involvement (Manitoba Education, 2010).

Possibly the most difficult change for many parents of students who live with special needs will be the changing role of the educational assistant. All of the interviewees talked about how the role of the educational assistant will change under formula based funding. Historically the province did not intend for level two and level three funding to equate to EA support but that is what developed across the province. The funding application is likely largely responsible for statements such as, "my EA" or "that EA belongs to my child". Many parents, it seems, are convinced the most important person involved with their child at school is the educational assistant. Divisions have work to do. Parents need to be educated about a changing service delivery model and be made aware of the redefined roles of the different staff who may support their child.

This finding is consistent with the results of one study that looked at parents' perceptions of educational assistants. Gessler-Werts, Harris, Young-Tillery, and Roark (2004) present ideas as to how school divisions may choose to educate parents about the role of educational assistants in inclusive schools. This study found the more severe the disability, the less communication a parent had with the classroom teacher and the more communication that parent had with the educational assistant. The parents of students with less significant disabilities had more communication with classroom teachers than with educational assistants. School divisions must create inclusive policy that puts the responsibility for all students on classroom teachers and then provide those classroom teachers with necessary supports, resources, and training to do the job effectively.

Schools and school divisions need to collaborate effectively with parents to create trusting, positive relationships with them as this will help in the success of the students. Parents want what is best for their children and I would argue professionals working in schools want the

best for their students. Rodriguez, Blatz, and Elbaum (2014) looked at parents of children living with special needs and their views about how schools include them and provide services to their children. According to the authors, parents will be most satisfied when they are asked for input and participation and when they believe their child is making progress and that progress has been communicated to them. In other words, parents want to be involved and they want their children to do well.

Principals.

The student services administrators who participated in this study believe principals must understand inclusive education and what the change to formula based funding means for students living with special needs because it will be the principals who will be called upon to lead the change. Four of the six student services administrators who participated in this study indicated they had included principals in conversations about the change in funding early on. Principals are in schools every day working alongside staff. They are the ones named in the *Appropriate* Educational Programming Regulation from the Public Schools Act (2005), and it is their responsibility to ensure all students are receiving appropriate supports. Therefore, principals must understand what inclusion is and is not, and they must lead staff in the creation of more inclusive school cultures. "Leaders, and especially principals, are unilaterally able to mobilize support for inclusion, and implement inclusive practices, and monitor teachers' efforts toward successful implementation" (Edmunds et al., 2009, p. 1). One study out of Ontario examined the impact a school principal has on the creation of an inclusive culture. The authors discuss the importance of principals in: understanding inclusive practice; advocating for and providing professional development for all staff, including the principal; the importance of identifying positive attitudes towards inclusion and calling out any negative attitudes that may exist within a

school culture; and creating a positive school climate that celebrates and values diversity (Edmunds et al., 2009).

One student services administrator interviewed in this study expressed concern some principals in that division may not have the capacity to lead in the area of inclusion. If that is the general case, then it seems student services administrators and senior administration need to ensure principals are provided with professional development training in this area. Furthermore, divisions should evaluate their own hiring practices of vice principals and principals. Senior administration must probe to determine the candidate's level of understanding of inclusive practices and their ability in leading an inclusive school culture. In this climate of inclusive school reform, candidates who do not believe in inclusion and demonstrate a deep understanding of what that really looks like should not be considered as leaders of schools.

Organizing and distributing supports: the use of data sources.

Student services administrators responsible for determining and distributing supports will need to develop systems to ensure they understand the needs in the schools and have appropriate supports in place. School divisions have different systems for collecting data. Some of the student services administrators I interviewed in this study spoke about the ways in which they will collect data from their schools and how this data might translate into support. Five out of six student services administrators said they will use class and school profiles to determine how to distribute supports to meet the needs of the diverse learners in their school divisions.

Class and school profiles.

In chapter two of this study I examined the literature that looked at the use of class profiles as a way to meet the needs of all diverse learners in a classroom. Much of the work around class profiles or reviews comes from Brownlie and King (2000). It seems the divisions

represented in this study are familiar with class profiles and they are used in their schools as a method of determining need and the distribution of supports.

One of the fears about moving to a formula based funding model is that there is a reduction in accountability to meet the needs of students with special needs (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). Under the categorical based system, funding was approved by the province based on a funding application that met the criteria for level two or three funding (Manitoba Education, 2016c). The funding was nominally attached to the student whose name was on the application and, generally that student received some overtly recognizable support. There will not be any funding applications under formula based funding. Therefore, even with a change in the funding process, school divisions must have some means to determine what the school needs so they are able to distribute supports accordingly. One participant talked about how this new process of determining supports will be a little like backwards planning. "Here is your class profile, here is your school profile... this is what we need and this is the money we will need to do that," the participant said. Before, under categorical based funding, the money was received and then it was decided how supports would be implemented. It seems that the formula based funding model has the potential to really allow schools to meet the needs of diverse learners in ways that are truly supportive and cognizant of needs. Some examples include hiring more clinicians or reading teachers, or purchasing more assistive technology as ways to help students who live with special needs have successful learning experiences.

One student service administrator talked about having student services consultants working with schools to see how they can best meet the needs of all learners. The participant said, "Getting people involved and making sure that they have gone back to their class profiles. Have they really shifted resources around? That will be the work of the consultants. To get in

schools and really dig around to see." The exciting part of this new process according to this participant is that resource teachers will be able to use the time they previously dedicated to funding applications to provide direct service to students.

Once class profiles are done, school teams can create a school profile. Student services administrators will have to develop systems to gather this information from the schools in order to see the bigger divisional picture. Some of the participants interviewed talked about using school profiles to determine need and support, but did not really expand past that. As the province implements formula based funding, divisions will have to come up with systems and processes to ensure that plans are in place so that all students have their learning needs met.

Changing roles.

In chapter two of this study, I examined the literature that looked at the roles of the principal, the resource teacher, and the classroom teacher and how they would be affected by the change to formula funding. In chapter two I also examined the literature that looked at the roles of the school clinician and the educational assistant. All six of the student services administrators who participated in this study believe the roles of the school clinician and the educational assistant will be affected by the change to formula based funding. Four of the six believe teachers will have to change their practice and four believe principals will be called upon to lead the change.

As stated in the previous section on using class and school profiles, formula based funding allows schools to look at the needs of their students and design plans and implement strategies based on what is best for student learning. Schools and divisions will have some freedom to implement new, creative ideas that were not always possible under the old categorical

funding model. Schools may hire SLPs to work in kindergarten classes or a school with a large Indigenous population may choose to hire an elder to help meet the needs of its students. This was possible before under the old system, but it seems that having funding attached to individual students created constraints that were difficult to ignore.

The educational assistant.

The role of the educational assistant came up several times during the interviews. In chapter two of this study I examined some of the literature that speaks to the misuse of educational assistants in education. All six student services administrators spoke about how important it will be to change the role of the educational assistant as divisions implement formula based funding. They all agreed their divisions will continue to employ educational assistants, but they will likely employ fewer and assign them differently. While the Manitoba Education never mandated that schools employ educational assistants when a student received level two or level three funding (Manitoba Education, 2016c), it seems the individualized funding application process encouraged this practice. It is very important to note here the criticisms of the roles of educational assistants both in this study and in the research are not criticisms of the educational assistants themselves. The criticism is our system has misused and over relied on educational assistants in providing services to children living with special needs. Most often the people employed as educational assistants in our schools are warm, caring individuals who want the best for the children with whom they have been assigned to work.

One barrier to inclusive education has been the merge between regular education and special education. "For too long efforts to advance inclusive education have attempted to retrofit existing service delivery models that were not initially intended to accommodate the range of student diversity currently present in public schools" (Giangreco, 2010, p. 344). In order to do

inclusion well, school divisions are going to have to change their service delivery models to meet the needs of their diverse learners. The role of the educational assistant must be clearly defined in the service delivery model. While the six study participants talked about reducing the number of educational assistants they employ, Giangreco (2010) warns that schools must ensure they have different resources available when reducing educational assistants. Otherwise there will simply be a void in the support system.

Manitoba's support document on the resource teacher role outlines a variety of service delivery models that support Manitoba's philosophy of inclusion (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014). School divisions are able to choose the service delivery model (or a combination of service delivery models) that best suits the needs of their schools. The four service delivery models are: the consultative – collaborative model; the co-teaching model; the response to intervention model; and the universal design model (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014, p. 4). As divisions continue to grow in the area of inclusion and move from categorical based funding to formula based funding, it will be important for divisions to clearly define the roles of all staff in their service delivery models. The role of the educational assistant needs to be defined, but so does the role of the classroom teacher, the clinician, the principal, and the resource teacher (Giangreco, 2010).

How will divisions be able to benefit from the use of educational assistants but in such a way that they are not a barrier to inclusive education? Manitoba Education (2009) outlines the role of the educational assistant saying, "An educational assistant is a person hired to support the work of professional staff, such as teachers or clinicians" (p. 3). The keyword here is support. So, how might divisions start to change the ways in which they use educational assistants? Stockall (2014) discusses the lack of training that educational assistants receive. She proposes

that the most effective way schools can improve the effectiveness of educational assistants is to use a direct instruction training model (DITM). The idea here is a resource teacher will work with an educational assistant through a variety of steps and "side by side" coaching. The steps are: establish training goals; instruction; demonstration; guided practice; observation of independent practice; and performance feedback. When educational assistants are coached individually by expert teachers, Stockall (2014) believes they will learn how to better assist students in developing both independence and self-advocacy skills while providing students with more time to participate in actual instruction with classroom teachers. "Students with disabilities need and deserve instruction from highly qualified teachers and highly qualified paraprofessionals" (Stockall, 2014, p. 204). The idea of providing educational assistants with this type of intentional training is one divisions should consider moving forward. The required time could come from the time resource teachers and clinicians previously spent on funding applications.

Much of the research surrounding the use of educational assistants cautions against assigning an educational assistant to work one on one with a student (Katz, 2013; Giangreco et al., 2012; Giangreco, 2010; Causton-Theoharis, 2009). There are times when it may be necessary to assign an EA to a particular student, but it is important this is only a short term solution with the goal being independence or fading to more natural support from others in the environment, such as the classroom teacher or fellow students. School teams must clearly outline how students are to be supported. The support must include the following components: plan to include; ask and listen; step back; and plan to fade the support (Causton-Theoharis, 2009). Educational assistants need to be taught how to provide necessary supports and pull back as the student demonstrates readiness (Causton-Theoharis, 2009).

As divisions embark on the new formula based funding model, the work they do with educational assistants and those supervising them must be intentional. Roles of all staff must be defined and educational assistants must understand exactly what their role is when working in classrooms. Those supervising educational assistants, including classroom teachers, must learn the roles of educational assistants and receive professional development in best practices in utilizing educational assistants in inclusive schools. Parents, particularly those who have children who live with special needs, will also need to understand the role all staff, including educational assistants, play in the education of their children. More research and work needs to be done in this area. The change to formula funding seems to have sparked many conversations regarding the role of the educational assistant, so this is an opportune time to start examining the potential of their work in inclusive schools.

The clinician.

Like the educational assistant, the role of the school clinician came up in all six interviews with the student services administrators. There were two main sub-themes in regards to school clinicians. The first was that all six of the student services administrators talked about hiring more clinicians under the new formula funding model. The second was the roles and responsibilities of the clinician will likely change as there will no longer be assessments for funding applications for clinicians to complete.

All six of the student services administrators I interviewed talked about using the money they will receive from formula based funding to hire more clinical staff for their schools. This will come at the cost of educational assistants but there seems to be agreement that having more professional staff available to work in schools will benefit students. In Manitoba there are six clinician classifications recognized and eligible to work in Manitoba schools. According to the

Department's website under Clinician Applications they are: school psychologists; occupational therapists; physiotherapists, social workers; audiology/speech language pathology; and reading clinicians (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017b). To qualify for permanent licencing to work in Manitoba schools, clinicians must hold the appropriate degrees or qualifications as outlined by the individual colleges to which they belong. As well clinicians must have two years of supervised experience working in school settings, complete the course, *Legal and Administrative Aspects of School Clinicians* (offered at the University of Manitoba), and must be recommended by a superintendent. A provisional certificate may be held while these requirements are being met (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017b).

If the interviewees are correct, under the new formula based funding model the role of the school clinician will change. The most significant reason for this change is because so much of the time clinicians spent in their jobs was used to assist schools in writing funding applications for students. One participant stated this changing reality: "Clinicians in the past have spent a lot of time doing assessments because it was required for funding applications. Well we are going to stop that and we are only going to do [assessments] when we really need to." So, how can school divisions help school clinicians make the shift from primarily assessment based to one in which they provide more direct services to students in classrooms? As previously stated, roles of all team members must be clearly defined, including the role of the school clinician.

The transition from a categorical based funding model to a formula based model might force educators and clinicians to look at student diversity with a different lens. Manitoba's categorical based funding was based significantly on a medical model. Professionals working in schools with children who presented with special learning needs looked at what was wrong with the child. In contrast, formula based funding might enable educators including clinicians to

examine the learning environment and ask themselves what supports are needed to help students be successful.

Archibald (2017) reviewed 49 papers that looked at the service delivery of speech language pathologists (SLPs) in schools to assist them in deciding which service delivery model is most effective. The author states these findings must be interpreted with caution because there were a limited number of studies conducted in the different areas of SLP services. According to Archibald, providing students with in-class services means that targeted students will not be pulled out so they will not miss valuable instruction time. Another argument is SLPs have found students with communication disorders do not always transfer learned skills from clinic to environment. Some argue teaching language skills directly in a natural environment such as the classroom will improve outcomes for students with communication disorders.

Another argument for having SLPs co-teach in classrooms alongside classroom teachers is it allows them to reach more students (Archibald, 2017). Often clinician waitlists are quite long and not all students receive services. The co-teaching model could result in improvements in communication for many students, not just a select few.

Archibald (2017) reviewed research that examined some of the different areas that fall under the umbrella of SLP services. These areas are: oral language; phonological awareness; curriculum-based language; and writing. The author concludes, "There is compelling evidence that targeted vocabulary and phonological awareness can be effectively taught through SLP-educator collaboration in the classroom" (Archibald, 2017, p. 14). There was not sufficient evidence that demonstrated the effectiveness in the other areas when comparing the co-teaching model to the pull-out model and it seems more research is needed in these areas.

It will be important for school teams to decide on a service delivery model and define the role of the various school clinicians. Collaboration among all members of a school team will be vital in providing services to students to best meet their needs while being as inclusive as possible. One case study examined a SLP who effectively co-taught in classrooms to meet the needs of students with diverse language needs. Ritzman et al. (2006) state:

The combination of strategies utilized by this SLP provides supportive evidence that her collaborative practices and classroom-based service delivery methods meet students' needs in the least restrictive environment, as mandated by the Individuals with

Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Amendments of 1997. (p. 230)

The idea of push-in services as opposed to pull-out services is certainly more inclusive and more in line with the research on inclusive practices.

School divisions will have to intentionally create professional development for school clinicians if they will be asking them to change their practice. The focus of this professional development should be on in-class service delivery and how to effectively co-teach with classroom teachers. Classroom teachers also need to be trained to use the co-teaching model in their classrooms. Student services administrators and principals should provide time for collaboration among teaching and clinical staff if the expectation is to have them work alongside each other in classrooms. Professional development in this area is going to be imperative moving forward. Simply "telling" clinicians and teachers to work together likely will not work and will come at a cost of disservice to students.

The principal.

In regards to the role of the school principal, two main sub-themes came up several times during the interviews. The first is the student services administrators are counting on school

principals to lead the change as their divisions move to formula based funding. The second is the participants believe the school principal must have a strong understanding of inclusion if the change in funding is going to be successful. One participant stated:

Does the principal really believe in inclusion...that really deep understanding of what inclusion is? So giving autonomy to principals to allocate as needed is great, but then we need to make sure that our principals have the shared vision - a deep understanding of what it looks like.

The Appropriate Educational Programming Amendment to the Public Schools Act made appropriate education law in Manitoba (The Public Schools Act, 2005). Principals must understand this regulation and how it serves as a basis for inclusive education. Zaretsky (2010) studied Northern Manitoba principals in regards to the appropriate education amendment that put much of the responsibility for appropriate education on the school principal. Zaretsky found there were four enabling conditions that support principals in their work to ensure appropriate education happens in their schools. The four conditions Zaretsky (2010) found are:

- 1. A commitment to changes in current educational practices;
- A positive attitude to the inclusion of all students within the community school;
- 3. Attendance at meaningful PD in order to learn about all aspects of appropriate educational programming from an administrator perspective; and
- 4. Flexibility to adapt to changing legislated requirements. (p. 245)

School divisions might want to consider using Zaretsky's (2010) study of the work of the principal and *Appropriate Educational Programming Amendment* to the *Public Schools Act* (The Public Schools Act, 2005) to start the conversation about appropriate education with principals.

A solid understanding of appropriate educational programming serves as the essential first step in adopting current, research based, inclusive practices in Manitoba schools. As school divisions expect principals to lead the change in inclusive education that will result from the change to formula based funding, they must also ensure the four conditions described by Zaretsky (2010) are established. If principals and other school leaders do not have a solid understanding of appropriate education, inclusive education simply cannot happen.

Further to the *Appropriate Educational Programming Regulation* in The Public Schools Act (2005), divisions will need to ensure those who are working as the leaders in their schools understand inclusion and are ready to lead in an inclusive school. McLeskey and Waldron (2015) looked at successful inclusive schools and found schools with administrators who were willing and able to work with the school staff to create shared core beliefs and values surrounding inclusion were successful in creating and maintaining inclusive schools. Hoppey and McLeskey (2013) examined some of the research looking at principals who led successful, inclusive schools and found that "[research] has identified the school principal as a key participant in directing school change and creating schools that support teachers to meet the needs of all students" (p. 245).

Four of the six participants talked about how their divisions have already started to engage principals in conversations around inclusion and the new funding model and it seems the majority feel that the school principals are capable of leading this work. There seems to be some concerns in one division that principals are not ready to lead schools through this change. One participant said:

It is not about your teachers' needs; it is about your students' needs. And principals sometimes do that, depending on what type of principal they are and the leadership (skills) that they have. Sometimes they do put the teachers' needs before the students' needs. That is a problem.

It is going to be very important for divisional leaders to ensure principals have the understanding and the tools they need to facilitate this change and to ensure school is as inclusive as possible for all learners.

The resource teacher.

In chapter two I examined the literature surrounding the role the resource teacher plays in inclusive schools. In their report The Task Force outlined four risks associated with formula based funding and one of those risks was the role of the resource teacher will change in Manitoba schools (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015). While this statement may have some truth to it, the role of the resource teacher does need to change if Manitoba schools are to be truly inclusive. One participant talked about how, perhaps, some resource teachers are comfortable filling out paperwork in an office and may be not so comfortable working in classrooms alongside teachers. If that is the case, then it is up to the principal and the student services administrators to provide professional development opportunities and supervision for resource teachers to learn and acquire the skills necessary to shift their roles to be coaches, mentors, and co-teachers with classroom teachers. Like classroom teachers, resource teachers may also need professional development that addresses their attitudes towards the education of students with disabilities and their attitudes towards inclusive education.

As stated previously, school divisions need to create service delivery models and ensure the role of all members of the team, including the resource teacher, are clearly outlined and defined. Resource teachers are knowledgeable about special education and working with students who have additional learning needs (Katz, 2013). They are able to perform assessments and design individualized learning goals for students. Their work is vital as we move forward under formula based funding. Inclusive education does not mean that practices such as assessments and individual education plans (IEPs) are no longer necessary. These practices must continue or else we run the risk of students not having their needs met. These practices must take place in the context of inclusive classrooms. Resource teachers who are the specialists with disability and classroom teachers who are the specialists with curriculum must come together to create an inclusive environment that meets the needs of all diverse learners (Katz, 2013).

In chapter two, I examined the document, *Supporting Inclusive Schools: A Handbook for Resource Teachers in Manitoba Schools* (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014).

This document outlines Manitoba Education's perspective on what the role of a resource teacher can and should look like. The majority of the work a resource teacher does should be working with classroom teachers to assist the classroom teacher to meet the learning needs of all of the diverse students in his/her class. The document goes on to recommend the support might be coteaching, consulting, co-planning, or a combination of all of these methods. "When the primary role of the resource teacher in an inclusive school environment focuses on supporting and working with classroom teachers, all students benefit" (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014, p. 13). Other aspects of a resource teacher's job may include the management of educational assistants, leadership within the school, and student support (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014).

This changing role of the resource teacher is one the school principal must understand and support. Katz (2013) describes the new role of the resource teacher as a "collaborator and a teacher leader" (p. 21). Classroom teachers cannot be expected to teach using inclusive practices if they have never done so before. Some of the participants in this study talked about how classrooms teachers are not able to "do it all" the way they have been doing, and if they are to be more inclusive, teachers are going to have to change their pedagogy. Principals must help create school service delivery teams and insist resource teachers work collaboratively with teachers and are working in classrooms coaching and/or co-teaching (AuCoin & Porter, 2013). This modelling and support resource teachers will provide to classroom teachers will be essential in building the capacity of our classroom teachers.

The classroom teacher.

The most influential person in any given classroom is the classroom teacher. Two subthemes surrounding teachers emerged from the data. The first is classroom teachers have to change their pedagogy as divisions move towards formula based funding. The second is school divisions have to provide professional development and capacity building opportunities if teachers are expected to teach in more inclusive ways.

All six of the student services administrators talked about reducing the number of educational assistants they employ and using those dollars to hire professional staff which might include clinicians and teachers. As the new funding model rolls out, teachers will be expected to take instructional responsibility for all students. It was never the intention for educational assistants to have more charge over students than classroom teachers. Some of the student services administrators I spoke to alluded to the fact that, while this was never the intention, in some instances it has been the practice. One student services administrator talked about how the

change to formula based funding may help in this area. "The other thing I see happening a little bit more organically is that classroom teachers will take more ownership for the students who are struggling learners and educational assistants might spend more time with neuro-typical kids," the participant said.

In order for teachers to meet the needs of diverse learners they have to examine their teaching practice. Gone are the days of teaching to the middle. Teachers in today's classrooms must design the learning with the needs of all students in mind from the beginning (Katz, 2012). Education in the Manitoba context is shifting from exclusion, to integration, to inclusion. I believe it is safe to assume different school divisions, schools, and classrooms vary in where they lie on this continuum. It is important to remember Manitoba Education believes that inclusion is best practice. The question is: how can teachers effectively meet the needs of very diverse learners in their classrooms?

Hehir et al. (2016) report, "Implementing effective inclusive education may require teachers and principals to rethink many longstanding approaches to instruction" (p. 19). One of the biggest barriers towards inclusive education according to the authors is teachers' attitudes towards inclusion. To combat these attitudes and move in a positive direction, the authors suggest that teachers and principals will have to be given time and opportunity to examine how these attitudes came to be and to see effective inclusion in practice.

How can school leaders including student services administrators and school principals work towards changing the attitudes of teachers toward inclusion? Changing attitudes is never an easy task. Much of the literature looking at teachers' attitudes towards inclusion claim that while teachers believe in inclusion in terms of it being a human right, many feel that they do not possess the knowledge and skills to teach students with disabilities (Hehir et al., 2016;

McCrimmon, 2015; Sokal, 2012; Florian & Linklater, 2010). It is imperative school leaders focus on building capacity within their teaching staff to teach in inclusive classrooms. School leaders must work towards creating collaborative communities of teachers and staff who work together to create inclusive settings for all.

There is some research that looks at pre-service teachers and how to assist them to acquire the skills and attitudes necessary to teach in inclusive classrooms. I believe many of the ideas from this body of literature can be used by school leaders for veteran teachers who have been teaching for several years. What is good for teacher candidates and new teachers certainly can be valuable for veteran teachers. One Manitoba study, written by Sokal (2012), looked at what various staff members including student services administrators, principals, teachers, clinicians, and educational assistants believe are essential skills and attitudes that new teachers should possess to teach effectively in inclusive schools. The author determined other staff members believe that being flexible about process is a necessary skill as every situation is different in its own context (Sokal, 2012). Inter-dependence, or being able to work effectively with other members of a collaborative team, was another skill the participants believed were necessary for new teachers to have. The third skill according to the researcher was new teachers must be able to communicate well with others about student needs. The final finding of Sokal's 2012 study was the participants believed new teachers must be able to ask for help when they need it and possess a "growth seeking attitude" (p. 414). It seems to me these skills and attitudes should not be required from only new teachers. Many veteran teachers have never had any training specific to students with disabilities or inclusive practices. Providing professional development around these four findings would likely be effective for all members of a school staff.

School leaders need to be specific and intentional in the message they send to staff. Katz (2012) recommends that school leaders adopt an inclusive policy and mean it by not allowing there to be any exceptions. While, policies are important, it is essential to remember teachers need to be supported in their professional learning.

One method of inclusive teaching in classrooms is Universal Design for Learning (UDL). Hehir et al. (2016) report teachers must learn inclusive techniques so that diverse students can be successful and UDL has been found to be successful in improving the way inclusion is implemented in schools.

An extension of UDL is The Three Block Model of Universal Design for Learning (Katz, 2014). This model has been implemented in many classrooms, schools and divisions across Manitoba with success. "UDL focuses on a strengths-based approach not only to persons with disabilities, but also to all learners and thus can be viewed as an inclusive educational reform" (Katz, 2014, p. 3). The Three Block Model of UDL consists of three parts: Social and Emotional Learning; Inclusive Instructional Practices; and Systems and Structures (Katz, 2012). Some of the student services administrators interviewed in this study talked about classroom teachers changing their pedagogy. This model provides teachers with a way to teach all of their diverse learners in their classrooms by designing the learning and the outcomes for everyone from the start. To start, the social and emotional needs of students are addressed through intentional lessons. Students learn about and talk about their learning strengths. Class meetings help to create a democratic classroom so that each student feels that they belong and that they have something important to contribute. Inclusive instructional practices include such things as the multiple intelligences, inquiry learning, integrated curriculum, and backwards planning to meet the needs of all learners in a classroom. I have personally used the Three Block Model of

Universal Design for Learning in my practice and have found it to be a practical and simple method to use to meet the needs of diverse students. This finding was also reported by Katz (2014) in her study of the implementation of The Three Block Model that looked at teachers' perceptions of instructional practice, self-efficacy, and job satisfaction. The findings from this study, while limited, found that implementing the Three Block Model of UDL had a "positive effect on teachers' willingness to change instructional practices, reflect on what had or had not been working for them and reduced teacher stress/increased job satisfaction" (Katz, 2014, p. 14).

The idea that inclusive education is for all and not just for those labelled with disabilities is crucial as Manitoba continues to evolve in the area of inclusive education. Inclusive education practices therefore are not different or "special". They are simply good teaching practices that may need to be more intensified for some students (Sokal, 2012). The Response to Intervention (RTI) model should be considered as schools move towards more inclusive practices. In Tier one, all students are provided access to the curriculum through research based practices and pedagogy that benefit all learners. All learners are included and teachers should be continually assessing student need to determine if Tier two or three interventions are required (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014).

Building the capacity of classroom teachers is essential in building inclusive schools. This is best accomplished through a collaborative approach in which teachers, administrators, resource teachers, clinicians, and parents all work together as a team.

The student services administrator.

One theme that emerged from the data was the student services administrators seem to feel more empowered to make changes with the implementation of formula based funding. Each of the student services administrators seems to have an inclusive belief system and really want to do

what is best for kids. I sensed an excitement from all six participants that this move to formula funding is allowing divisions to change the way in which inclusion is done in their schools. For instance, as stated previously, the province of Manitoba never mandated funding equals educational assistants. The elimination of the funding application process seems to be enabling student services administrators to provide supports that are more in line with good inclusive practices.

School division leaders including superintendents and student services administrators must assist the school board to create divisional policy in the area of inclusion. Inclusive education should not be a merge of regular and special education, but rather its own entity, based on research supported practices that are designed to meet the needs of diverse learners (Giangreco, 2010). Katz (2012) believes that "[a] division that is truly dedicated to inclusive education will close down segregated classes and provide support through professional development, public education, budgeting, staffing, and resources to make inclusive education work" (p. 166).

Will there be an impact on inclusive education?

"You have to have faith in humanity. Where they begin to realize that there is a place for everyone in this world... our kids who are living and breathing, shoulder to shoulder with all of the kids in their class. It helps them to be kinder, gentler people who appreciate diversity far greater than my generation and that is a good thing." (Participant)

For the most part the student services administrators who participated in this study seem to believe the move away from categorical based funding which includes the elimination of the deficit based funding application is a positive move to advance inclusive education in the

province. When asked if they believe the change to formula based funding will improve inclusive education, only three of the six participants believed it would. The other three stated their divisions have already been working hard on improving inclusive education. They believe inclusive education will continue to get better, but formula funding while a piece, will not be the sole reason for the improvements.

So, what is really going to change in terms of inclusive education? I believe the biggest potential change that has been shown in this research is all students, including those students who live with special needs, will have more professional staff working with them than they did before. As has been mentioned, the student services administrators all talked about hiring fewer educational assistants and hiring more clinicians and teachers (resource and classroom). Clinicians and resource teachers will be expected to co-teach with classroom teachers thus building capacity in classroom teachers to work with more diverse students. Classroom teachers will get better at teaching to the edges instead of the middle.

Interestingly, four of the six participants, while hopeful about the potential of formula funding, expressed a fear that, if not implemented properly, some schools or divisions may see a return of some segregated practices. This finding is an important one that we all must attend to. One participant talked about the fear that segregation is cheaper than inclusion. "I am worried about that because it is cheaper to bus everybody to one place," the participant said. In our current political climate, this is a realistic fear so it will be important that educators and parents pay attention and take a stand for improving inclusive education for all students.

One participant talked about a return to clustering students who live with special needs in classrooms if there are fewer educational assistants provided to schools. The participant said:

I know the intent is that we will become more inclusive, but my fear is we will make more cohorts... 'If I am not getting an EA for every kid I will take my two EAs and put them in a classroom with a group of kids'... That is my fear. That is where the leadership has to be very clear that we do not go back to setting up special ed classes or learning assistance centers.

Another participant expressed fear that classroom teachers may return to ability groupings in the classroom as they learn to maneuver through the new funding formula. "...but this makes me a little nervous about ability groupings and so when we have had our conversations we have said we will be watching for this and this cannot happen," the participant said.

One participant expressed concern on a larger scale. If divisions are all setting criteria very differently, that may create some pockets of segregation across the province. The participant asked, "Do you start to get hot spots where people move to because there are more supports? And then is that an inclusive province?"

While I was taken aback at first when some of the participants started talking about being fearful that some segregated practices could return, it is clear that under their leadership they will not allow this to happen. The fact they are apprehensive and cautious means they will not allow segregated practices to return to their schools. This is an important consideration as the sample of student services administrators I interviewed may have a more inclusive mind set than others in different divisions. Manitoba Education must put some systems of accountability in place so that divisions understand inclusion is the desired outcome of this funding change.

Louis Riel School Division: Formula funding initiative.

As stated in Chapter One of this thesis, in January of 2016 the Minister of Education in Manitoba announced the department would adopt the recommendations made by The Task Force on Special Needs Funding (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015) and move from the categorical based funding model to a formula based funding model (Manitoba Education and Training, 2016b). At the same time the Minister announced Louis Riel School Division (LRSD) would lead the change by participating in a two-year initiative. The idea at the time was that LRSD would implement formula funding for two years (2016-2017 and 2017-2018) and share their journey and findings with the rest of the divisions in the province. Other school divisions, he announced, would be able to opt in during the 2017-2018 school year. By the 2018-2019 school year all divisions would be funded under the formula funding model. At the time of this announcement, the province was intending to work on a formula.

Before this plan could be fully implemented there was a change in government. The new government decided all school divisions would receive funding for students living with special needs under the new formula based funding model starting in the 2017-2018 school year (Manitoba Education and Training, 2017b). This sudden change in plans meant divisions were not given the anticipated time to prepare or to learn from the LRSD initiative that was just starting its second year. Three of the student services administrators mentioned in their interviews they believe their divisions would have benefited from more time to plan and prepare for the change. In addition to a hastened timeline of implementation, the new government has not created a formula and has provided divisions with the same amount of money in 2017-2018 that they received in 2016-2017 to assist in the education of students living with special needs. This means as salaries and costs go up, the money divisions actually have to educate all students in

their divisions was effectively reduced. Regardless of the hastened timeline and reduced funding, leaders from school divisions wanting to use the change in funding as a catalyst to improve inclusive practices in their schools should look to the work LRSD has done in this area.

Louis Riel School Division has invested a lot of time and effort in the implementation of formula based funding. As part of my research I attended a public conference hosted by the Student Services Administrators Association of Manitoba in which Marlene Murray, the assistant superintendent of student services with LRSD, shared their divisional journey with other student services administrators (Murray, 2016). The student services administrators who participated in my study were interviewed in the spring of 2017. They had just learned in January of 2017 that all divisions would receive funding for students who live with special needs through formula based funding and they would receive the same amount of money in 2017-2018 that they received in 2016-2017. That spring each participant was preparing for the change in funding for the coming September. The themes that became evident in my study were similar to the experiences that LRSD went through as they embarked on the new formula funding model.

The commitment to inclusive education in LRSD starts at the top with senior administration and the board (Murray, 2016). Their work in inclusive education has been much broader than just funding. The school division made a commitment to improve inclusive education in its schools and formula based funding is just a part of the work they set out to do. They worked to create a culture of inclusion that is supported in the intentional work they did as they prepared for formula based funding. Murray (2016) described the guiding principles that helped the senior administration team begin their journey. The guiding principles are: define the goals; collaboration; trust; relationships; communication; leadership; and problem solving and decision making.

As part of the preparation, the superintendent team met with various stakeholders including: parents and students; teachers and their professional associations; educational assistants and their union; principals; and curricular and student services coordinators (Murray, 2016). They listened to any concerns and shared their vision with them.

Murray explained principals in LRSD are expected to lead the change. They are also being heavily supported by senior administration to lead that change. The division is promoting a culture of collaboration and providing leaders and school teams with time every six weeks to meet to collaborate and create their own school profile templates. Curriculum and student services coordinators are working together with these school teams to assist in creating inclusive learning environments for their students (Murray, 2016).

Formula based funding itself will not change or improve inclusive education. Divisions need to be intentional in their work to create inclusive cultures in their schools. There will be a lot of work to do as LRSD has demonstrated, but in the end the work will be impactful and inclusive for all diverse learners.

Conclusion and Recommendations

This is an exciting time for inclusive education in Manitoba. The decision by the Department of Education to accept the recommendations made by The Task Force on Special Needs Funding (Manitoba Education and Training, 2015) has sparked many conversations about inclusive practices that go much deeper than funding. The results of this study are limited as only a small sample of student services administrators were interviewed. All six participants believe a move to formula based funding is a positive move in the area of inclusive education. This study demonstrates that at least a few school divisions have started or will start to make changes in the area of inclusive education. Division leaders have started conversations with the different

stakeholders who will be affected by the change to formula based funding. There was some fear expressed by the student services administrators that if not done well, the change to formula based funding could result in a return of some segregated practices. It will be important that at all levels, from the superintendents to the principals to the classroom teachers, there is awareness and conversation about what can and cannot happen as formula based funding is implemented across the province. The Public Schools Act (2005) is very clear in providing divisions with minimal requirements of appropriate education. Manitoba Education takes this further in its belief that inclusive education is best practice and the desired outcome for all Manitoba schools.

Moving forward it is evident from this research that formula based funding has the potential to help improve inclusive education in Manitoba schools. These findings are similar to the findings from the work that has been done in both Seven Oaks School Division (SOSD) from 2010-2013 and in the Louis Riel School Division (LRSD) since September 2016. When SOSD made the move from categorical based funding to formula funding they also implemented a comprehensive plan to improve inclusive education across the division. Formula based funding on its own will not improve or change inclusive practices and SOSD recognized this as they implemented formula based funding at the same time they set out to improve school based inclusive practice (Proactive Information Services Inc., 2013b). Some of these improvements included: the implementation of a circle of support that starts with the student, his/her parents, and the classroom teacher; a focus on the co-teaching model in which two professionals work together to meet the needs of a diverse class of students; and the belief that diversity is the norm in all classrooms and teaching and supports need to be reflective of this. Six themes came out of the data as reported by Proactive Information Services Inc. (2013b). The themes were: each school is diverse with unique needs and must be allowed to meet the needs of its population in

ways that make sense for them; schools need to be allowed time to experiment and try different approaches; the concept of Universal Design was helping to meet the needs of all, however there was still concern about meeting everyone's needs; a team approach is essential in successful inclusive schools; team members, particularly co-teachers need to be compatible in their beliefs and understandings of inclusion and; planning time had to be made available for team members.

The initial findings from LRSD seem to echo some of the findings from the SOSD pilot. It is possible that LRSD followed the work that was done by SOSD and borrowed from it as they began to talk about moving from categorical based funding to formula based funding. The work that has been done thus far by LRSD has been intentional and carefully planned. Prior to the change in funding, senior administration provided clear direction about the division's belief in inclusive practices (Murray, 2016). This message of inclusion and the philosophy behind the change to a formula based funding model was shared with key stakeholders: parents and students; teachers and their professional associations; EAs and their union; principals; and curricular and student services consultants and coordinators (Murray, 2016).

The literature around best inclusive practices continually emphasizes the importance of building capacity and creating collaborative cultures among staff to improve inclusive practices in schools (Fullan & Quinn, 2016). Most of the student services administrators interviewed in this study also talked about the changing role of staff and how vital it will be to help staff learn these new expectations so inclusive education can continue to develop in schools. Building capacity of staff has been a main focus for LRSD (Murray, 2016). School teams consist of a principal, student services teachers and two classroom teachers and these school teams collaborate by creating a profile of needs from student, classroom, and school profiles (Murray, 2016). This idea is also supported in the literature. "If we want to shift the organization, we need

to pay attention to both the quality of the capacity building and the degree of collaborative learning" (Fullan & Quinn, 2016, p. 60). As formula funding is implemented across the province, divisions hoping to improve inclusive practices in their schools must be intentional in their work in building capacity and creating collaborative cultures.

School leaders who want to use the change in funding to improve inclusive education in their schools should consider making inclusion a priority by including it in their school goals and planning. Katz (2012) created the Three Block Model of Universal Design for Learning. Block one focuses on Social and Emotional Learning; Block Two focuses on inclusive instruction; and Block Three focuses on the systems and structures required for inclusive practices to succeed. While all three blocks are important, school leaders should spend some time implementing Block Three to improve inclusive education in their schools. The main components of Block Three are: creating an inclusive policy with no exceptions; hiring administrators who have a vision and expertise in the area of inclusive education; distributed leadership; professional development in the form of professional learning communities (PLCs); intentional staffing to support collaborative practice; and budgeting (Katz).

To create an inclusive policy, leaders should start by creating an inclusive service delivery model (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning, 2014). Brownlie and King (2000) refer to a more inclusive service delivery model as a "noncategorical model" (p. 78). They describe this model as one in which specialist teachers such as ESL teachers, reading teachers or resource teachers work with all students in a classroom and not only students who were referred to them. This model reduces the number of assessments needed and encourages resource teachers to co-teach, co-plan and co-assess alongside a classroom teacher in an effort to meet the needs of all learners (Brownlie & King, 2000). This idea was supported by The Task Force and was one

of the reasons they recommended the elimination of categorical based funding (Manitoba Education, 2015).

School leaders, including principals, have the opportunity to create the conditions for inclusive education to thrive. From my own practice I have seen the benefit of intentional collaboration time with school teams and between teachers and resource teachers. Principals need to support, for example through their staffing, budgeting and scheduling processes (Katz, 2012). There is no one-size-fits-all approach. Every school has dynamics and culture that make it unique. However, principals can ensure that resources such as PLCs, professional books, and speakers, and tools such as an inclusive service delivery model, class and school profiles, and collaborative time tables are prioritized and made available to staff to improve inclusion in their schools.

As teachers start to change their practice in classrooms to be more inclusive, expectations of student learning must be set high. Katz's (2012) Three Block Model of Universal Design for Learning emphasizes that learning for all students should focus on higher order thinking. She weaves together subjects, including numeracy and literacy, to create inquiry lessons to help students make meaningful connections to what they are learning (Katz, 2012). The idea is that all students will benefit from teaching and learning in which they need to demonstrate a higher level of understanding. Inclusive education, if it is to be successful, must hold all learners to a higher standard. Schools are accountable to parents, school boards, and provincial departments of education. Schools are in the business of teaching and learning and they must ensure that students are literate and numerate so they can lead their best lives possible. Inclusive schools ensure that this is done for all.

Further research is needed as to how to best utilize educational assistants in inclusive schools. Manitoba has relied on educational assistants to deliver educational programming to students living with special needs for far too long. All six of the student services administrators talked about the benefits in the changing role of the educational assistant. They also talked about employing fewer educational assistants in order to employ more professional staff including clinicians and teachers. This change needs to be done in a respectful manner, one which does not demoralize the educational assistants who are working and will continue to work in Manitoba schools.

Another area that needs to be explored further is the role of Manitoba Education. There must be systems for accountability put in place to ensure schools are meeting at minimum, the regulations and standards from the *Appropriate Educational Programming Regulation* (The Public Schools Act, 2005). Inclusive education has evolved since 2005 and Manitoba Education might want to ensure its own regulations are more in line with research based practices in the area of inclusion. "For too long efforts to advance inclusive education have attempted to retrofit existing service delivery models that were not initially intended to accommodate the range of student diversity currently present in public schools" (Giangreco, 2010, p. 344). Manitoba Education has and continues to publish many documents to help support inclusion in Manitoba schools. Manitoba Education should take this further and create policy that is based on current research of best practice in inclusive education.

As divisions in Manitoba embark on the change from categorical based funding to formula based funding they should consider using this change as a starting point to improve inclusive education in their schools. As has been mentioned several times throughout this paper, a change to formula based funding will not make schools more inclusive. Rather the change to

formula based funding has started the conversations necessary to make improvements in the way all diverse students are educated in Manitoba schools.

References

- Ainscow, M., & Sandill, A. (2010). Developing inclusive education systems: The role of organizational cultures and leadership. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *14*(4), 401-416. doi:10.1080/13603110802504903
- Archibald, L. M. D. (2017). SLP educator classroom collaboration: A review to inform reason-based practice. *Autism and Developmental Language Impairments*, *2*, 1-17. doi:10.1177/2396941516680369
- AuCoin, A., & Porter, G. L. (2013). The role of the resource teacher in an inclusive setting: A time-use inquiry in new brunswick schools. *Education Canada*, *53* (2), 24-27.
- Baker, B., & Ramsey, M. J. (2010). What we don't know can't hurt us?: Equity consequences of financing special education on the untested assumption of uniform needs. *Journal of Education Finance*, 35(3), 245-275.
- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (2007). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education.
- Brown, L., Farrington, K., Knight, T., Ross, C., & Ziegler, M. (1999). Fewer paraprofessionals and more teachers and therapists in educational programs for students with significant disabilities. *Journal of the Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps*, *24*(4), 250-253. doi:10.2511/rpsd.24.4.250
- Brownlie, F., & King, J. (2000). *Learning in safe schools: Creating classrooms where all students belong*. Markham, ON: Pembrooke Publishers.
- Canadian Teachers' Federation. (2009). *Issue brief on teacher assistants*. Retrieved from www.ctf-fce.ca/Research-Library/IssuebriefTchrAssts-eng.pdf

- Causton-Theoharis, J. N. (2009). The golden rule of providing support in inclusive classrooms: Support others as you would wish to be supported. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 42(2), 36-43. doi:10.1177/004005990904200204
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2000). *Research Methods in Education* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge Falmer.
- Council of Ministers of Education, Canada, & The Canadian Commission for UNESCO. (2008).

 Report two: Inclusive education in canada. *The Development of Education Reports for Canada*, 34-65.
- Creswell, J.W., Miller, D.L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory Into Practice*, 39(3), 124-130. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip3903 2
- Degener, T. (2016). Disability in a human rights context. *Laws*, *5*(3), 1-24. doi:10.3390/laws5030035
- Edmunds, A. L., Macmillan, R. B., Specht, J., Nowicki, E. A., & Edmunds, G. (2009). Principals and inclusive schools: Insight into practice. *Journal of Educational Administration and Foundations*, 20(1), 1-23.
- Fletcher-Campbell, F., Pijl, S. J., Meijer, C., Dyson, A., & Parrish, T. (2003). Distribution of funds for special needs education. *The International Journal of Educational Management*, 17(5), 220-233. doi:10.1108/09513540310484940
- Florian, L., & Linklater, H. (2010). Preparing teachers for inclusive education: Using inclusive pedagogy to enhance teaching and learning for all. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 40(4), 369-386. doi:10.1080/0305764X.2010.526588
- Fullan, M., & Quinn, J. (2016). *Coherence: The right drivers in action for schools, districts, and systems*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Ontario Principals' Council & Corwin.

- Gessler-Werts, M., Harris, S., Young-Tillery, C., & Roark, R. (2004). What parents tell us about paraeducators. *Remedial and Special Education*, *25*(4), 232-239.
- Giangreco, M. F. (2010). Utilization of teacher assistants in inclusive schools: Is it the kind of help that helping is all about? *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *25*(4), 341-345. doi:10.1080/08856257.2010.513537
- Giangreco, M. F., Broer, S. M., & Suter, J. C. (2011). Guidelines for selecting alternatives to over reliance on paraprofessionals: Field testing in inclusion-oriented schools. *Remedial and Special Education*, 32(1), 22-38. doi:10.1177/0741932509355951
- Giangreco, M. F., Doyle, M. B., & Suter, J. C. (2012). Constructively responding to requests for paraprofessionals: We keep asking the wrong questions. *Remedial and Special Education*, 33(6), 262-273. doi:10.1177/0741932511413472
- Guzman, N. (1997). Leadership for successful inclusive schools. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 35(5), 439-450. doi:10.1108/09578239710184583
- Hargreaves, A., & Ainscow, M. (2015). The top and bottom of leadership and change. *Kappan Magazine*, 97(3), 42-48. doi:10.1177/0031721715614828
- Hehir, T., Grindal, T., Freeman, B., Lamoreau, R., Borquaye, Y., & Burke, S. (2016). *A summary of the evidence on inclusive education*. ABT Associates.
- Hoppey, D., & McLeskey, J. (2013). A case study of principal leadership in an effective inclusive school. *The Journal of Special Education*, *46*(4), 245-256. doi:10.1177/0022466910390507
- Katz, J. (2012). *Teaching to diversity: The three block model of universal design for learning*. Winnipeg, MB: Portage & Main Press.

- Katz, J. (2013). Resource teachers: A changing role in the three block model of universal design for learning. Winnipeg, MB: Portage & Main Press.
- Katz, J. (2014). Implementing the three block model of universal design for learning: Effects on teachers' self-efficacy, stress, and job satisfaction in the inclusive classroom. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 19(1), 1-20. doi:10.1080/13603116.2014.881569
- Lauchlan, F. & Boyle, C. (2007). Is the use of labels in special education helpful? *Support for Learning*, 22(1), 36-42. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9604.2007.00443.x
- Leithwood, K. (2010). Characteristics of school districts that are exceptionally effective at closing the achievement gap. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, *9*(3), 245-291. doi:10.1080/15700761003731500
- Manitoba Education. (2009). *Educational assistants in Manitoba schools*. Retrieved from https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/docs/support/ed_assistants/educational_assistants.pdf
- Manitoba Education. (2010). *Student-specific planning: A handbook for developing and implementing individual education plans (IEPs)*. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.mb. ca/k12/specedu/iep/pdf/planning/student_specific_planning.pdf
- Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning. (2014). *Supporting inclusive schools: A handbook for resource teachers in manitoba schools*. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/res teacher/pdf/sis resource teachers mb schools.pdf
- Manitoba Education and Training. (2015). Task force on special needs funding: Report for the minister of education and advanced learning. Retrieved from https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/edu/docs/spec_needs_fund_report.pdf
- Manitoba Education and Training. (2016a). *Student Services*. Retrieved from www.edu.gov. mb.ca/k12/ specedu/index.html

- Manitoba Education and Training. (2016b). *Province to increase supports for students with special needs by 1.7 million, modernize funding model*. Retrieved from http://news.gov.mb.ca/news/index.html?item=37192
- Manitoba Education and Training (2016c). *Special needs funding level two and three*. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/funding/resources/support_package.pdf
- Manitoba Education and Training. (2017a). *Funding of schools: 2017-2018 school year*.

 Retrieved from www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/finance/fund grant
- Manitoba Education and Training. (2017b). *Professional certification: School clinicians*.

 Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/profcert/ certificates/othercertificates/clinician.html
- Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth. (2001). Follow-up to the manitoba special education review: Proposals for a policy, accountability, and funding framework. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/aep/pdf/overview.pdf
- Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth. (2006). *Appropriate educational programming in manitoba: Standards for student services*. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/aep/handbook_ss/standards.pdf
- Manitoba Education, Citizenship, and Youth. (2007). *Appropriate educational programming in manitoba: A handbook for student services*. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/aep/handbook_ss/full_document.pdf
- McCrimmon, A. W. (2015). Inclusive education in Canada: Issues in teacher preparation. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 50(4), 234-237. doi:10.1177/1053451214546402
- McLeskey, J., & Waldron, N. L. (2015). Effective leadership makes schools truly inclusive. *Kappan Magazine*, 96(5), 68-73. doi:10.1177/0031721715569474

- Murray, M. (2016, December). A journey towards a needs based model: Special needs initiative 2016-2017. Presented at the Student Services Administrators' Association of Manitoba Annual Conference, Brandon, MB.
- Olson, P. (2013). Block funding pilot runs its course. The Manitoba Teacher, 91(7), 6.
- Parrish, T.B. (2000). Restructuring special education funding in new york to promote the objective of high learning standards for all students. *Economics of Education Review*, 19, 431-445. doi:10.1016/S0272-7757(00)00002-9
- Pena, E. D. & Quinn, R. (2003). Developing effective collaboration teams in speech-language therapy: A case study. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 24(2), 53-63.
- Proactive Information Services Inc. (2013a). *Final report. Student services funding review:* formula based funding. Winnipeg, MB: Seven Oaks School Division.
- Proactive Information Services Inc. (2013b). *Final report. Student services funding review: inclusive education practice.* Winnipeg, MB: Seven Oaks School Division.
- Prustlow, J. T. (2003). What school administrators should know about inclusion and its costs. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 2(1), 65-78. doi:10.1076/lpos.2.1.65.15253
- Ritzman, M. J., Sanger, D. & Coufal, K. L. (2006). A case study of a collaborative speech language pathologist. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, *27*(4), 221-231. doi:10.1177/15257401060270040501
- Rodriguez, R. J., Blatz, E. T., & Elbaum, B. (2014). Parents' views of schools' involvement efforts. *Exceptional Children*, 81(1), 79-95. doi:10.1177/0014402914532232
- Rubie-Davies, C. M., Blatchford, P., Webster, R., Koutsoubou, M., & Bassett, P. (2010).

 Enhancing learning? A comparison of teacher and teaching assistant interaction with pupils.

- School Effectiveness and School Improvement: An International Journal of Research, Policy, and Practice, 21(4), 429-449. doi:10.1080/09243453.2010.512800
- Saskatchewan Ministry of Education. (2011). *Actualizing a needs-based model to support student achievement: A journey of transformation*. Retrieved from http://publications. gov.sk.ca/documents/11/87218-Actualizing%20a%20needs-based%20model.pdf
- Sokal, L. (2012). What are schools looking for in new, inclusive teachers? *McGill Journal of Education*, 47(3), 403-420.
- Stockall, N. S. (2014). When an aide really becomes an aide: Providing professional development for special education paraprofessionals. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 46(6), 197-205. doi:10.1177/0040059914537202
- Tews, L., & Lupart, J. (2008). Students with disabilities' perspectives of the role and impact of paraprofessionals in inclusive education settings. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, *5*(1), 39-46. doi:10.1111/j.1741-1130.2007.00138.x
- The Public Schools Act, Appropriate Educational Programming Regulation 155 Mb. (2005)
- Theoharis, G., & Causton, J. (2014). Leading inclusive school reform for students with disabilities: A school and system wide approach. *Theory into Practice*, *53*(2), 82-97. doi:10.1080/00405841.2014.885808
- Thomson, M. M. (2012). Labelling and self-esteem: Does labelling exceptional students impact their self-esteem? *Support for Learning*, *27*(4), 158-165. doi:10.1111/1467-9604.12004
- Tomlinson, S. (2012). The irresistible rise of the SEN industry. *Oxford Review of Education*, 38(3), 267-286. doi:10.1080/03054985.2012.692055
- UNESCO. (1994). *The Salamanca declaration and framework for action*. Paris, France: UNESCO.

- VanWalleghem, J. & Lutfiyya, Z. M. (2013). *Inclusive special education in manitoba 2001- 2012*. Winnipeg, MB: Manitoba Education Research Network (MERN).
- van Swet, J., Wichers-Bots, J., Brown, K. (2011). Solution-focused assessment: Rethinking labels to support inclusive education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *15*(9), 909-923. doi:10.1080/13603110903456615
- Zaretsky, J. D. (2010). A study of northern principals' perspectives regarding new special education legislation. University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB. Retrieved from University of Manitoba Libraries.

Appendix A



Human Ethics 208-194 Dafoe Road Winnipeg, MB Canada R3T 2N2 Phone +204-474-7122 Email: humanethics@umanitoba.ca

PROTOCOL APPROVAL

TO: Karen Fraser (Advisor: John Van Walleghem)

Principal Investigator

FROM: Sarah Teetzel, Vice Chair

Education/Nursing Research Ethics Board (ENREB)

Re: Protocol #E2017:027 (HS20616)

"Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive Education in

Manitoba?"

Effective: April 4, 2017 Expiry: April 4, 2018

Education/Nursing Research Ethics Board (ENREB) has reviewed and approved the above research. ENREB is constituted and operates in accordance with the current *Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans*.

This approval is subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Approval is granted only for the research and purposes described in the application.
- Any modification to the research must be submitted to ENREB for approval before implementation.
- Any deviations to the research or adverse events must be submitted to ENREB as soon as possible.
- This approval is valid for one year only and a Renewal Request must be submitted and approved by the above expiry date.
- A Study Closure form must be submitted to ENREB when the research is complete or terminated.
- The University of Manitoba may request to review research documentation from this project to demonstrate compliance with this approved protocol and the University of Manitoba Ethics of Research Involving Humans.

Funded Protocols:

 Please mail/e-mail a copy of this Approval, identifying the related UM Project Number, to the Research Grants Officer in ORS.



Human Ethics 208-194 Dafoe Road Winnipeg, MB Canada R3T 2N2 Phone +204-474-7122 Email: humanethics@umanitoba.ca

RENEWAL APPROVAL

Date: March 20, 2018 New Expiry: April 4, 2019

TO: Karen Fraser (Advisor John Van Walleghem)

Principal Investigator

FROM: Zana Lutfiyya, Chair

Education/Nursing Research Ethics Board (ENREB)

Re: Protocol #E2017:027 (HS20616)

"Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive

Education in Manitoba?"

Education/Nursing Research Ethics Board (ENREB) has reviewed and renewed the above research. ENREB is constituted and operates in accordance with the current *Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans*.

This approval is subject to the following conditions:

- Any modification to the research must be submitted to ENREB for approval before implementation.
- Any deviations to the research or adverse events must be submitted to ENREB as soon as possible.
- This renewal is valid for one year only and a Renewal Request must be submitted and approved by the above expiry date.
- A Study Closure form must be submitted to ENREB when the research is complete or terminated.

Funded Protocols:

 Please mail/e-mail a copy of this Renewal Approval, identifying the related UM Project Number, to the Research Grants Officer in ORS.

Appendix B



April 5, 2017

Dear Superintendent,

My name is Karen Fraser and I am a graduate student in the Faculty of Education at The University of Manitoba. I am carrying out a study for my M.Ed. thesis titled, Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive Education in Manitoba? In this study I will examine the perspectives of student services administrators on the topic of the change to a formula model for special needs funding. My research questions are;

- 1. What are the anticipated changes that will be the result of the new formula funding model?
- a. How do school division leaders, specifically student service administrators prepare for and support these changes?
- b. How will different roles such as the role of the principal, the resource teacher, and the classroom teacher be affected by the change?
- c. How are these changes anticipated to impact inclusive education at the school level?

My thesis advisor is Dr. John VanWalleghem. He can be contacted by phone at by email at

This study has been approved by the Education and Nursing Research Ethics Board (ENREB) at the University of Manitoba. If there are any concerns or complaints about this project, contact the Human Ethics Coordinator at 204-474-7122 or humanethics@umanitoba.ca.

I am recruiting student services administrators who are willing to share their thoughts and ideas in regards to the change to special needs funding in the province of Manitoba. The interview will be approximately one hour in length and at a place and time that is convenient for them.

Every effort will be made to maintain confidentiality. Student service administrators and school divisions will not be identified and will be referred to using a pseudonym. Participants may withdraw from the study at any time, in which case their comments will not be used. I will be the only person to have access to participants' names, although my thesis advisor will have access to the anonymized data. Audio digital recordings and all electronic data will be stored on a password protected device or computer. All hard copies of the data will be locked in a filing cabinet in my home office. I will store the anonymized and identifiable data in separate drawers. All data will be destroyed in five years from completion of this study, anticipated to be August 2022.

Once the thesis is complete you may access the final results by providing me with your contact information so that I can send you the final summary.

The findings of this study will be shared with my thesis advisor and thesis committee. The findings of this study will be presented at a public thesis defense meeting and may be disseminated in presentations or publications. The final copy of this thesis will be available to the public through the University of Manitoba Library.

I have attached in this package of materials:

- The invitation letter to student services administrators to participate in this research study
- The consent form for individuals who wish to be interviewed.

The support I am requesting from the division consists of:

- Superintendent permission to engage in the research
- Superintendent distribution of the invitation letter and consent form to potential participants

Your signature on the Superintendents' Consent Form will authorize your approval for this research project and agreement to provide the listed supports above. Thank you for your time and consideration. My email address is

Sincerely,

Karen Fraser

Appendix C



Thesis title: Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive Education in

Manitoba?

Dear Ms. Fraser,

I am willing to arrange for the distribution of the recruitment materials for your study, titled, *Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive Education in Manitoba?* I understand that you will be conducting at least six interviews with student services administrators from across the province of Manitoba. My signature on this form indicates that I will forward the invitation letter and the consent form to student service administrators in the division. I understand that my signature on this form indicates that I have understood to my satisfaction the information regarding participation and supports listed in the request. In no way does this letter waive my legal rights nor release the researchers, sponsors or involved institutions from their legal and professional responsibilities. I am free to withdraw my consent from the study at any time, and I am free to ask for clarification or new information throughout the study.

The University of Manitoba may look at the research records for this study to ensure that I have carried it out in a safe and proper way. This consent form, a copy of which will be left with you for your records and reference, is only part of the process of informed consent. It should give you the basic idea of what the research is about and what your participation will involve. If you would like more detail about something mentioned here, or information

not included here, you should feel free to ask. Please take the time to read this carefully and		
to understand any accompanying information.		
Superintendents' Signature	Date	
C.1. 1D M		
School Division Name:		
I would like to receive a summary of the results of this	study. To that end, my contact	
information for receipt of study findings is included be	low.	
Contact Information:		

Appendix D



April 5, 2017

Dear Student Services Administrator,

My name is Karen Fraser and I am a graduate student in the Faculty of Education at The University of Manitoba. I am carrying out a study for my M.Ed. thesis titled, *Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive Education in Manitoba?* In this study I will examine the perspectives of student services administrators on the topic of the change to a formula model for special needs funding. My research questions are;

- 1. What are the anticipated changes that will be the result of the new formula funding model?
 - a. How do school division leaders, specifically student service administrators prepare for and support these changes?
 - b. How will different roles such as the role of the principal, the resource teacher, and the classroom teacher be affected by the change?
 - c. How are these changes anticipated to impact inclusive education at the school level?

My thesis advisor is Dr. John VanWalleghem. He can be contacted by phone at by email at

.

The study has been approved by the Education and Nursing Research Ethics Board (ENREB) at the University of Manitoba. If there are any concerns or complaints about this project, contact the Human Ethics Coordinator at 204-474-7122 or humanethics@umanitoba.ca.

I am recruiting student services administrators who are willing to share their thoughts and ideas in regards to the change to special needs funding in the province. This interview will take approximately an hour of your time and at a place and time that is convenient for you.

Every effort will be made to maintain confidentiality. You will not be identified and you will be referred to with a pseudonym. You may withdraw from the study at any time, in which case your comments will not be used. I will be the only person to have access to participants' names, although my thesis advisor will have access to the anonymized data. Audio digital recordings and all electronic data will be stored on a password protected device or computer. All hard copies of the data will be locked in a filing cabinet in my home office. I will store the anonymized and identifiable data in separate drawers. All data will be destroyed in five years from completion of this study, anticipated to be August 2022.

Once the thesis is complete you may access the final results by providing me with your contact information so that I can send you the final summary.

The findings of this study will be shared with my thesis advisor and thesis committee. The findings of this study will be presented at a public thesis defense meeting and may be disseminated in presentations or publications. The final copy of this thesis will be available to the public through the University of Manitoba Library.

Attached is the consent form to this letter which details the parameters of this study, your right to withdraw at any time, and issues around anonymity and the confidentiality of your participation.

128

Sincerely,

Karen Fraser

Appendix E



Interview Consent Form

Researcher: Karen Fraser

Graduate Student, Department of Educational Administration, Foundations and

Psychology

University of Manitoba

Email:

Thesis Advisor: Dr. John VanWalleghem,

April 5, 2017

Dear Participant,

My name is Karen Fraser and I am a graduate student at the University of Manitoba. My thesis advisor is Dr. John VanWalleghem. The study has been approved by the Education and Nursing Research Ethics Board (ENREB) at the University of Manitoba. If there are any concerns or complaints about this project, contact the Human Ethics Coordinator at 204-474-7122 or https://doi.org/10.1001/journal.com/

The findings of this study will be shared with my thesis advisor and thesis committee. The findings of this study will be presented at a public thesis defense meeting and may be disseminated in presentations or publications. The final copy of this thesis will be available to the public through the University of Manitoba Library.

The title of this study is: Will a Change to Special Needs Funding Improve Inclusive Education in Manitoba?

The University of Manitoba may look at the research records for this study to ensure that I have carried it out in a safe and proper way. This consent form, a copy of which will be left

with you for your records and reference, is only part of the process of informed consent. It should give you the basic idea of what the research is about and what your participation will involve. If you would like more detail about something mentioned here, or information not included here, you should feel free to ask. Please take the time to read this carefully and to understand any accompanying information.

I am recruiting student services administrators who are willing to share their thoughts and ideas in regards to the change to special needs funding in the province. This interview will take approximately one hour of your time at a place and time that is convenient for you.

Every effort will be made to maintain confidentiality. You will not be identified and you will be referred to with a pseudonym. You may withdraw from the study at any time, in which case your comments will not be used. I will be the only person to have access to participants' names, although my thesis advisor will have access to the anonymized data. Audio digital recordings and all electronic data will be stored on a password protected device or computer. All hard copies of the data will be locked in a filing cabinet in my home office. I will store the anonymized and identifiable data in separate drawers. All data will be destroyed in five years from completion of this study, anticipated to be August 2022.

The interview transcript will be typed by me and returned to you via the email contact you provide on this consent form in order for you to add, change, or delete any information. The review of the transcript should take between twenty to thirty minutes of your time. You will have two weeks to review the information and provide feedback to me via the email address provided on this form. If I do not hear from you within two weeks, I will assume you are comfortable with the information and proceed to analysis.

WILL A CHANGE IN FUNDING IMPROVE INCLUSIVE EDUCATION?

131

Once the thesis is complete you may access the final results by providing me with your contact

information so that the final summary can be forwarded to you.

The findings of this study will be shared with my thesis advisor and thesis committee. The

findings of this study will be presented at a public thesis defense meeting and may be

disseminated in presentations or publications. The final copy of this thesis will be available to the

public through the University of Manitoba Library.

There is no more risk in this study than one would normally assume in one's regular life.

Participants may benefit from the insight and knowledge they obtain from their participation in

and the results of this study.

Your signature on the bottom of this form indicates that you have understood to your satisfaction

the information regarding participation in this research study and agree to participate as a

subject. In no way does this waive your legal rights, nor release the researcher or involved

institutions from their legal and professional responsibilities. You are free to withdraw from the

study at any time, and/or refrain from answering questions you prefer to omit, without prejudice

or consequence. Your continued participation should be as informed as your initial consent, so

you should feel free to ask for clarification or new information throughout your participation.

Sincerely,

Karen Fraser

PLEASE SEE SIGNATURE PAGE ON NEXT PAGE

I have read the consent form and consent to participate in the interview and research being		
conducted by Karen Fraser, University of Manitoba.		
Participant	Date	
Researcher	Date	
The address to which a final report of this study can be sent is listed below.		
Participant's address (physical or electronic)		

Appendix F

Interview Questions

- 1. Please provide me with an overview of your job role and particularly how it connects to provincial funding of students who have special needs.
- 2. How have you in your role as a student services administrator begun to prepare for the implementation of formula funding over the next school year? Please describe the steps you think will occur in your school division.
- 3. Are you using the funding changes to encourage specific programming changes within your school division? If so, what are those programming changes and how are you encouraging them?
- 4. Are there changes that you think will occur naturally (i.e., without the influence of divisional leaders)? If so, what are they and how will you help staff prepare for these changes?
- 5. How will your division how will you make decisions as to how to organize your supports for students living with special needs?
- 6. Do you think that services and/or supports look different than in previous years? Please explain.
- 7. Do you think that this shift in funding make a difference in terms of inclusive education for the students in your division? Why or why not?
- 8. As your school division begins to plan for the implementation of the new funding model, what are your apprehensions?

- 9. As your school division begins to plan for the implementation of the new funding model what are you hoping for?
- 10. What changes, if any, do you foresee from the recently changed timeline for implementation; where all school divisions must comply by this coming fall?
- 11. Is there anything else that you would like to add?